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Appeal from the Circuit Court for Baltimore County
and review of death sentence. James T. Smith, Jr., JUDGE

DISPOSITION:

CONVICTION AND SENTENCE FOR
BURGLARY REVERSED; ALL OTHER
JUDGMENTS AFFIRMED.

CASE SUMMARY:

PROCEDURAL POSTURE: Defendant appealed the
judgment of the Circuit Court for Baltimore County
(Maryland), which convicted him of first degree mur-
der, first degree sexual offense, burglary, and the use of a
handgun in the commission of a crime of violence. The
circuit court sentenced him to death for the murder, life
imprisonment for the first degree sexual offense, and to
specified prison terms for the other convictions.

OVERVIEW: The victim, who died of gunshot wounds,
was found with a bottle protruding from her vagina. The
police found the gun that killed her when defendant's sis-
ter--in--law called them to his home because she found
smeared blood. Later when the police searched defen-
dant's room at a hotel where a clerk had been killed, they
found a shoe that matched a piece of rubber found in the
victim's home. The court found no error in admitting the
evidence, holding that the search of defendant's home fell
under the emergency exception to the warrant require-
ment and that the evidence seized from the hotel room
was subject to inevitable discovery. Further, there was ev-
idence that defendant had abandoned the room and had
no standing to suppress the evidence. There was evidence
to support the sexual assault charge but not burglary be-
cause there was not sufficient evidence showing a break-
ing. The court found no error in the trial court's advice on
the right to testify, in allowing expert testimony on torn
edge comparisons, or in the prosecution's refreshing of
witness recollection, redirect of a witness, or his closing

arguments. The death sentence was neither excessive nor
disproportionate.

OUTCOME: The court reversed the conviction and sen-
tence for burglary but affirmed the convictions and sen-
tences for first degree murder, first degree sexual assault,
and the use of a handgun in the commission of a crime of
violence.
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OPINION:

[*634] [**260]

On January 18, 1991, a jury in the Circuit Court
for Baltimore County convicted the appellant, Stephen
Howard Oken, of the first degree murder of Dawn Garvin,
of a first degree sexual offense upon Ms. Garvin, of bur-
glary, and of the use of a handgun in the commission of
a crime of violence. Having previously entered a plea
of not criminally responsible and having been granted a
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bifurcated hearing on the issues of guilt or innocence and
[***2] criminal responsibility, Oken elected to have the
court decide [**261] whether or not he was criminally
responsible. On January 22, 1991, the court found Oken
to be criminally responsible. The sentencing for Oken's
guilt of first degree murder was held before the same jury
on January 24 and 25, 1991. The jury sentenced Oken
to death. The trial judge subsequently imposed sentences
of life imprisonment for the first degree sexual offense, a
consecutive term of twenty years for the burglary, and a
consecutive term of twenty years for the use of a hand-
gun in the commission of a crime of violence. Oken has
appealed those judgments. We begin by reciting the facts
surrounding Dawn Garvin's murder.

At midnight on Sunday, November 1, 1987, Keith
Douglas Garvin arrived at the United States Navy base in
Oceana, Virginia. Mr. Garvin, who had a pass from his
naval superiors, had just spent the weekend with his wife,
Dawn Garvin, at their apartment in the Baltimore County
community of White Marsh and was returning to his sta-
tion in Oceana. Upon his arrival at the base, Mr. Garvin
attempted to call his wife to notify her that he had arrived
safely. Although the telephone rang at their White Marsh
[***3] apartment, there was no answer. After making
several additional unsuccessful attempts to call his wife,
Mr. Garvin became worried and telephoned his father--
in--law, Frederick Joseph Romano. Because Mr. Romano
lived in close proximity to



Page 3
327 Md. 628, *635; 612 A.2d 258, **261;

1992 Md. LEXIS 148, ***3; 17 A.L.R.5th 893

[*635] the Garvins' apartment, Mr. Garvin asked Mr.
Romano to check on his wife. Mr. Romano agreed, and
attempted to telephone his daughter twice. Both times
there was no answer. Concerned about the fact that nu-
merous calls to his daughter had gone unanswered, Mr.
Romano decided to drive to his daughter's apartment.

When Mr. Romano arrived at his daughter's apart-
ment, he found the front door to the apartment ajar, all
the lights in the apartment turned on, and the televi-
sion blaring. Sensing that something was wrong, Mr.
Romano rushed into the apartment and found his daugh-
ter, Dawn, in the bedroom lying on the bed nude with
a bottle protruding from her vagina. While attempting
to give her cardiopul--monary resuscitation ("CPR"), Mr.
Romano observed that there was blood streaming from
her forehead. He immediately called for assistance, and
paramedics arrived shortly thereafter. A paramedic then
began to administer CPR, but his efforts were[***4] in
vain. Dawn Marie Garvin was dead.

At 2:30 a.m., on November 2, Detective James Roeder

of the Baltimore County Police Department arrived at
the Garvins' apartment to inspect the scene of the mur-
der. Detective Roeder testified that when he entered the
Garvins' apartment he saw no signs of forced entry. Once
inside, he observed a brassiere, a pair of pants, tennis
shoes, a shirt, and a sweater on the floor near the sofa
in the living room. The brassiere was not unhooked, but
instead, was ripped on the side. The pants were turned
inside out. Roeder also noticed a small piece of rubber on
the floor near the television set. In the bedroom, Roeder
found two spent .25 caliber shell casings on the bed, one
of which was lying on top of a shirt. The shirt was blood
stained and had what Roeder believed to be a bullet hole
in it.

An autopsy of Ms. Garvin's body revealed that she
had died as the result of two contact gunshot wounds; one
of the bullets entered at her left eyebrow and the other at
her right ear.
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[*636]

The last person to see Dawn Garvin before she
was fatally attacked was her brother, Frederick Anthony
Romano. At 8:30 p.m. on November 1, Mr. Romano
stopped by his [***5] sister's apartment to pick up a
set of keys to Keith Garvin's car. Mr. Garvin had left
the car at the White Marsh apartment so that it could be
repaired during the week. Mr. Romano only stayed at his
sister's apartment for about five minutes. When he left
the apartment, Ms. Garvin was preparing to walk her dog.
We will state additional facts as necessary in addressing
the several contentions of the appellant.

I.

Oken's first contention is that the trial court affirma-
tively misadvised him concerning his right to testify at the
criminal [**262] responsibility hearing. As a result of
such advice, Oken maintains that he did not knowingly,
intelligently, and voluntarily waive his right to testify. The
relevant advice given to Oken at the criminal responsibil-
ity hearing was as follows:

"[THE COURT]: Mr. Oken, although we

didn't cover this when you put on your testi-
mony yesterday with respect to criminal re-
sponsibility, you do have, as you had in the
original trial, the right to testify or not testify
as it relates to this stage of the proceedings
as to whether or not you were criminally re-
sponsible by reason of insanity.

"If you choose not to testify, I can't think
that, I can't take any[***6] inference that, in
fact, you are criminally responsible because
you refused to testify. However, I'll have to
decide the case on the basis of the evidence
that has been presented on this issue.

"If you choose to testify, you are sub-
ject to being cross examined by the Assistant
State's Attorney on all aspects as they relate
to the issue of criminal responsibility and as
they relate to the direct examination which
would be elicited by your counsel. So you
would have, you would be subject to cross
examination.
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[*637]

"In addition, in the event that you were
found to be criminally responsible and the
State chose to do so, any testimony that you,
that was admitted in these proceedings would
be admissible in connection with the sentenc-
ing if, in fact, that sentencing were conducted
before the jury and the State could present
any such testimony at that time.

"So that you have the right to testify or
not as to the issue in this stage. If you choose
not to, I cannot infer that you are criminally
responsible as a result of that choice. I would
have to decide the case on the basis of the evi-
dence that has been presented on this issue as
well as the evidence that came in in connec-
tion [***7] with the guilt/innocence phase .
. . .

"So that you can choose not to testify or
you can choose to testify. If you choose to
testify, you're subject to cross examination,
including any prior criminal record that you

have that relates to credibility.And any testi-
mony that you would offer in this proceeding,
in the event that you were held or found crim-
inally responsible, could be presented to the
jury in the event that you elect to have sen-
tencing done by a jury if the State chose to
do so." (Emphasis supplied).

Oken argues that the advice given by the trial court
was wrong as a matter of law because it suggested to him
that his testimony at the criminal responsibility hearing
would be admissiblein totoat the sentencing hearing. He
asserts that a criminal defendant's testimony at one stage
of the proceedings against him is not automatically admis-
sible against him at a subsequent stage of the proceedings
without an evaluation of the testimony's relevance and its
probative value when compared to its prejudicial effect.

In support of this contention, Oken relies primarily
on Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377, 88 S.Ct.
967, 19 L.Ed.2d 1247 (1968).[***8] In Simmons, the
Supreme Court held that a defendant who testifies in a
Fourth Amendment pretrial suppression hearing may not
have his testimony from that hearing admitted against him
in a subsequent
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[*638] trial on the merits.Id. at 394, 88 S.Ct. at 976, 19
L.Ed.2d at 1259.Although Oken acknowledges that the
Simmons'sholding was based on the Fourth Amendment
claim addressed therein, he maintains that reasoning in
Simmonshas been applied in other contexts as well n1
and, therefore, is equally applicable in the casesub ju-
dice.

n1E.g., United States v. Ragins, 840 F.2d 1184,
1193 (4th Cir.1988)(pretrial double jeopardy hear-
ing testimony);United States v. Trejo--Zambrano,
582 F.2d 460, 464 (9th Cir.1978)(waiver of Fifth
Amendment privilege at one stage of proceeding
is not a waiver of that right for other stages);
United States v. Handley, 591 F.Supp. 1257, 1271
(N.D.Ala.1984) (defendant's sworn testimony at
civil deposition is not admissible against same de-
fendant in a criminal trial arising out of the same
events).

[***9] [**263]

On the other hand, the State argues that Oken's con-
tention regarding his right to testify was waived because

he never challenged or objected to the trial court's ad-
vice. Alternatively, the State asserts that even assuming,
arguendo, that Oken's claim was properly preserved, it
fails on the merits because the Supreme Court's decision
in Simmonsis not applicable to the instant case, and this
Court's decision inGilliam v. State, 320 Md. 637, 579
A.2d 744 (1990), cert. denied, U.S. , 111 S.Ct. 1024,
112 L.Ed.2d 1106 (1991)is fatal to Oken's contention.
Because we agree with the State's arguments concerning
the merits of Oken's claim, we hold that the trial court did
not commit reversible error in advising Oken regarding
his right to testify at the criminal responsibility hearing.
We explain our holding.

Initially, it is clear that Oken's reliance onSimmonsis
misplaced in light of the Supreme Court's more recent de-
cision inMcGautha v. California, 402 U.S. 183, 91 S.Ct.
1454, 28 L.Ed.2d 711 (1971).In McGautha[***10] , the
defendant relied upon the Supreme Court's reasoning in
Simmonsto support his claim that his unitary trial on the
issues of guilt or innocence and mitigation of a possible
death sentence created an "intolerable tension" between
his right not to incriminate himself and his right to testify
on the issue of
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[*639] mitigation. In rejecting this claim, the Supreme
Court declared that its earlier decision inSimmonswas
strictly limited to the protection of a defendant's testimony
in a hearing on a motion to suppress evidence alleged
to have been obtained in violation of his constitutional
rights. Id. at 211--12, 91 S.Ct. at 1469, 28 L.Ed.2d at
728--29.Therefore, we find Oken's reliance onSimmons
unpersuasive. Instead, we look to the principles we set
forth in Gilliam, andMorales v. State, 325 Md. 330, 600
A.2d 851 (1992).

In Gilliam, supra, the defendant was convicted of
first--degree murder, committed during the course of a
kidnapping and robbery, and was sentenced to death. On
direct appeal, the defendant[***11] claimed that two
colloquies between defense counsel and him, one at trial
and the other at the capital sentencing proceeding, may
have affirmatively misled him to believe, in part, that the
court would likely acquit him if he elected not to testify.
Gilliam, supra, 320 Md. at 651--52, 579 A.2d at 751.
In evaluating this claim, we emphasized that there is no
requirement that a represented defendant be advised in

open court, by either the trial judge or counsel, on the
issue of whether to testify or remain silent. Instead, we
held that there is a rebuttable "presumption" that a rep-
resented defendant has been fully informed regarding his
right to testify, and that, absent some "clear" indication in
the record to the contrary, appellate courts will presume
that whatever course of action the defendant ultimately
takes at trial was in fact a voluntary decision made after
a complete, but not necessarily on--the--record, consul-
tation with defense counsel.Id. at 655--56, 579 A.2d at
753.Although we are cognizant of the fact thatGilliam
addressed the propriety of advice from defense counsel
to [***12] the defendant, we believe, as evidenced in our
recent decision inMorales, supra, 325 Md. at 330, 600
A.2d at 851,that our reasoning is equally applicable to the
instant case where the advice came from the trial court.

In Morales, an unrepresented defendant was convicted
of possession of cocaine with intent to distribute and con-
spiracy to distribute cocaine. At the close of the State's
case,
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[*640] the trial court advised the defendant of his right to
testify or remain silent. Initially, the defendant indicated
that he would like to testify on his own behalf. However,
the trial court repeatedly warned him, "if you take the
stand and testify and you have been convicted of a crime
before, they may ask you, they meaning the State may ask
you about that."Id. at 334, 600 A.2d at 853.Immediately
after hearing that advice, the defendant changed his mind
and said, "I don't want to go up there."Id. In light of these
facts, we determined that:

"A reasonable inference from the quoted
colloquy between the judge and Morales is
that Morales intended to testify until the
judge advised[***13] him to 'think about
this' and that his convictions could be brought
out to show whether he[**264] should be
believed or not. Since Morales apparently
changed his decision to testify based on the
trial court's incorrect implication that all of
his prior convictions could be used to im-
peach him, the defendant's decision to waive
his constitutional right to testify and to exer-
cise his constitutional right to remain silent
was not knowingly and intelligently made.

If the trial court ---- although not required to
do so ---- had given the correct information
regarding impeachment by evidence of prior
convictions, the result would be different."

Id. at 339, 600 A.2d at 855.

Applying these standards to the casesub judice, we
look to the record. Shortly after the trial court advised
Oken concerning his right to testify the following collo-
quy occurred:

"THE COURT: Now, Mr. Oken you have
had an opportunity to consult with your coun-
sel with respect to this election, is that cor-
rect?

"THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

"THE COURT: All right.

"THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

"THE COURT: And do you elect to tes-
tify or not to testify, sir?
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[*641]

"THE DEFENDANT: I have not[***14]
come to a decision on that. I would like to
wait until the report of Dr. Spodak is in.

"THE COURT: Well, Dr. Michael
Spodak is not going to be presented by the
State. They have closed their case. There
is no report of Dr. Spodak available and Dr.
Spodak, according to representations of the
Assistant State's Attorneys in my chambers
with your counsel, is that they have had no
communications with Dr. Spodak in connec-
tion with his examination of you last night, I
believe. Is that correct, sir?

"THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

"THE COURT: He saw you last night?
So that there is no report or summary of any
examination by Dr. Spodak available.

"Your counsel was with you last night,
was he not, in connection with that examina-
tion?

"THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

"THE COURT: All right. Well, so your
request to delay until such a report is denied.

"THE DEFENDANT: Can I have one
second?

"THE COURT: Certainly.

(Pause.)

"THE DEFENDANT: I will not testify.

"THE COURT: You choose not to testify,
is that correct, sir?

"THE DEFENDANT: That's right."

In light of this record, we find no clear indication that
the trial court's advice regarding Oken's right to testify
had any influence on his decision not to[***15] testify.
Indeed, the record reflects that: 1) Oken acknowledged
consulting with the defense counsel concerning his elec-
tion to testify at the criminal responsibility hearing prior
to the trial court's advice, and 2) Oken was given an addi-
tional opportunity to consult his attorney about testifying
after the court's advice. Therefore, on the basis of this
record we are not convinced that Oken did not knowingly,
intelligently, or
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[*642] voluntary waive his right to testify at the criminal
responsibility hearing.

II.

Oken next focuses on the trial court's instructions to
the jury regarding its role in determining whether the
aggravating circumstance n2 of Dawn Garvin's murder
outweighed the circumstances mitigating his guilt. Prior
to sentencing, Oken requested that the jury be instructed
as follows:

"I advise you that if for any reason you are
unable within a reasonable period of time to
reach a unanimous judgment as to the bal-
ancing required by Section ___ of the form, I
will sentence Steven H. Oken to life impris-
onment."

The trial court denied Oken's request, and, instead, in-
structed the jury that their determination[**265] of
whether the aggravating circumstances outweighed the
[***16] mitigating circumstances "must be unanimous,"
and that until all 12 of the jurors agreed on whether the
answer was "yes" or "no," they could not move onto the
next section of the sentencing form. Oken asserts that,
pursuant to Maryland Code (1957, 1992 Repl.Vol.), Art.

27, § 413(k)(2), n3 the trial court was required to instruct
the jury that a failure to reach a unanimous agreement on
whether the aggravating circumstances outweighed the
mitigating circumstances would result in a sentence of
life imprisonment. We disagree.

n2 The sole aggravating circumstance on which
the State relied in seeking the death penalty for
the murder was that Oken had committed it "while
committing or attempting to commit a . . . sexual
offense in the first degree." Md.Code (1957, 1992
Repl.Vol.) Art. 27, § 413(d)(10).

n3 Section 413(k)(2) provides:
"If the jury, within a reasonable time, is
not able to agree as to whether a sen-
tence of death shall be imposed, the
court may not impose a sentence of
death."

This Court has already[***17] rejected the notion
that a trial judge must instruct the jurors in a capital sen-
tencing proceeding prior to their deliberations that if they
cannot
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[*643] agree on sentencing within a reasonable time a life
sentence would be imposed.Calhoun v. State, 297 Md.
563, 593--95, 468 A.2d 45, 58--60 (1983), cert. denied,
466 U.S. 993, 104 S.Ct. 2374, 80 L.Ed.2d 846 (1984);
Grandison v. State, 305 Md. 685, 771, 506 A.2d 580, 623,
cert. denied, 479 U.S. 873, 107 S.Ct. 38, 93 L.Ed.2d 174
(1986). See also Booth v. State, 327 Md. 142, 153--54, 608
A.2d 162, 167--68 (1992).

III.

Oken's third contention concerns his pre--trial sup-
pression motions. He contends that the hearing court
erred in denying his motion to suppress evidence seized
during a search of his home in Maryland on November
16, 1987 and from his person upon his arrest in Maine on
November 17, 1987. For the sake of clarity, we shall treat
Oken's contention as two separate claims:[***18] one
dealing with the search of Oken's home in Maryland on
November 16, 1987, and the other with his arrest in Maine
on November 17, 1987. Before addressing the merits of

each claim, we will set forth the facts developed at the
hearings on his suppression motions.

Search of Oken's Home on November 16, 1987

At 9:00 a.m. on the morning of November 16, 1987,
approximately two weeks after Dawn Garvin's murder,
Sergeant Sidney Branham of the Baltimore County Police
Department was patrolling the White Marsh area when he
received a dispatch of a "suspicious condition" concern-
ing a missing person at 62 Stillwood Circle, a townhouse
which was the residence of Oken and his wife, Phyllis
Hirt Oken. Sergeant Branham went to that address and
was met by four individuals standing outside of the home.
One of those individuals, a Ms. Danielle Jones, informed
Sergeant Branham that "she had reason to believe that
her sister, Patricia Hirt, was missing and that some harm
had come to her, and she came to 62 Stillwood Circle to
locate her sister." Jones also told Sergeant Branham that
when she arrived at this address, she found the door to the
residence partially ajar
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[*644] and entered. Jones[***19] related that while in-
side the house, she had noticed that it was in disarray and
that there was blood on the floor near the front entrance.

On the basis of Jones's story, Sergeant Branham de-
cided that he and Lieutenant Harvey should enter the
house "to see if there was anyone injured in the house,
[and] to look for any suspect." Once inside the house,
Sergeant Branham made certain observations. He saw
blood smeared on the floor in the foyer and on the door
post, a towel lying on top of a trash can in the kitchen with
what appeared to be dried blood stains on it, and articles
of women's clothing strewn about the floor in the living
room. When Sergeant Branham left the house, he posted
an officer at the front door to secure the premises until a
search warrant could be obtained.

Later that same morning, at about 10:00 a.m.,
Detective Charles Naylor of the Baltimore County Police
Department received a telephone call asking him to pro-
ceed to an area near Interstate 95 and White Marsh
Boulevard in Baltimore County where the[**266] body
of a dead woman had been found by the Maryland State

Police. Detective Naylor went to this area to investigate.
Approximately one hour later, the body of the[***20]
dead woman was identified as Patricia Hirt. n4

n4 Subsequent to his conviction and sentence in
the instant case, Oken pleaded guilty to the murder
of Patricia Hirt.

After the discovery of the dead woman's identity,
Detective Naylor was sent to 62 Stillwood Circle where
he met with Sergeant Branham. Sergeant Branham in-
formed Detective Naylor of his observations inside the
home. Based on these observations and the discovery
of Patricia Hirt's body, Detective Naylor prepared an af-
fidavit and application for a search and seizure warrant
for Oken's home at 62 Stillwood Circle. A warrant was
signed by Judge A. Gordon Boone, Jr., and Detective
Naylor returned to 62 Stillwood Circle to execute the
warrant. During the search, Detective Naylor seized a
.25 caliber handgun from a dresser drawer in the master
bedroom. This gun was later
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[*645] determined to be the weapon that was used to kill
Dawn Garvin.

At a pre--trial hearing, Oken moved to suppress the
evidence seized from his home pursuant to the search and
seizure [***21] warrant. The basis for Oken's motion
was that Sergeant Branham's initial warrantless entry into
the house violated the Fourth Amendment. Oken argued
that because Branham's observations made during the il-
legal entry served as the basis for the warrant obtained
by Detective Naylor, the evidence seized during the later
search was the "fruit of a poisonous tree." The trial court
disagreed with Oken, and ruled that the police acted rea-
sonably in response to the circumstances that were pre-
sented to them when they arrived at 62 Stillwood Circle.
In short, the lower court found that Sergeant Branham's
warrantless entry into Oken's house was justified by the
emergency exception to the warrant requirement.See
Mincey v. Arizona, 437 U.S. 385, 392--93, 98 S.Ct. 2408,
2413--14, 57 L.Ed.2d 290, 299--300 (1978); Michigan v.
Tyler, 436 U.S. 499, 509, 98 S.Ct. 1942, 1950, 56 L.Ed.2d

486, 498 (1978); Stackhouse v. State, 298 Md. 203, 212,
468 A.2d 333, 338 (1983).

In this Court, Oken posits that Sergeant Branham
"could not have 'reasonably'[***22] believed that some-
one in urgent need of help was located in [his] home"
because Ms. Jones had already been in the house, and it is
reasonable to conclude that she would have told Branham
if there was someone inside who needed emergency assis-
tance. Therefore, according to Oken, Branham's decision
to make a warrantless entry was not reasonable and could
not be justified under the emergency exception to the war-
rant requirement. We are not persuaded.

In determining whether such an emergency existed in
the casesub judice, "the relevant facts which we [must]
consider are limited to those produced at the suppres-
sion hearing which are most favorable to the State as
the prevailing party on the motion."Riddick v. State, 319
Md. 180, 183, 571 A.2d 1239, 1240--41 (1990)(citations
omitted).
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[*646] Although we may make our own independent
constitutional appraisal of the record, we will not disturb
the trial court's findings of the basic facts unless they are
clearly erroneous.Id.

In the instant case, Sergeant Branham testified that
on the morning of November 16, 1987, he responded to
a dispatch on his radio regarding a "suspicious[***23]
condition" at Oken's townhouse. When he arrived at the
townhouse, he was met there by Danielle Jones, who was
the sister of Patricia Hirt and of Oken's wife, Phyllis.
Jones told Sergeant Branham that she had reason to be-
lieve that Patricia Hirt was "missing", that some harm had
come to her, and that when she went to Oken's home to
check on Patricia, she found the door to the house "ajar",
the house in disarray, and blood on the floor near the en-
trance to the house. Jones did not indicate to Detective
Branham whether she had thoroughly searched the house
to see if anyone was inside, and, in fact, her call to the po-
lice suggested that she obviously desired[**267] some
type of police assistance in this regard.

Based upon these circumstances, Detective Branham
testified that he and Lieutenant Harvey "made a decision
to go into the premises to see if there was anyone that
was injured inside, [and] to look for . . . any criminal
that was involved." Detective Branham also testified that
the officers "first priority" was locating and attending the
victim. Once inside the house, the officers remained only
long enough to ascertain whether any people were located
therein, and their search was confined[***24] to areas
that could have concealed a body. The officers did not
remove anything from the house, and when they left they
posted a guard to secure the premises. Based on our in-
dependent constitutional appraisal of this uncontradicted
evidence at the suppression hearing, we hold that Sergeant
Branham's decision to enter Oken's home was both rea-
sonable and justifiable under the emergency exception to
the warrant requirement. Consequently, we hold that the
hearing court correctly denied Oken's motion to suppress
evidence seized during
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[*647] Detective Naylor's subsequent search, which was
conducted pursuant to a warrant issued in partial reliance
upon Sergeant Branham's observations during his war-
rantless entry of Oken's home.

Oken's Arrest in Maine on November 17, 1987

At approximately 1:00 p.m. on November 16, 1987,
the same day the Maryland State Police discovered
Patricia Hirt's dead body, Oken checked into the
Coachman Motor Inn ("Coachman") in Kittery, Maine.
According to the general manager of the motel, Diana
Ott, Oken stated that he only wanted the room for one
night. After filling out the registration form which in-
dicated that he was driving a white Ford Mustang with
[***25] Maryland registration plates, Oken paid for his
room in advance with a Visa credit card. As Ott handed
Oken the keys to room 48, the telephone rang. Ott an-
swered, and as she was talking on the telephone, she
realized that she still had Oken's credit card in her hand.
Ott telephoned Oken in his room and asked him to come
back to the desk and get his card at his convenience. At
2:30 p.m., Ott's shift at the registration desk ended. She

was replaced by Lori Ward. Since Oken had not returned
to claim his card at the time Ott and Ward changed shifts,
Ott informed Ward that Oken might be coming to the desk
for his card. Ott then went home.

Later that evening, at approximately 6:00 p.m., Ott
telephoned the registration desk to check on Ward. There
was no answer to her call. Ott continued to call Ward
but received no answer. She then telephoned the motel's
maintenance man and asked him to check on Ward. The
maintenance man returned Ott's telephone call about ten
minutes later. He informed Ott that Ward had been found
murdered. n5 Ott immediately left for the motel. She ar-
rived at the motel around 6:30 p.m. and stayed there until
12:30 a.m. During that time she did not see Oken[***26]
or his Mustang.

n5 Prior to his trial for the murder of Dawn
Garvin, Oken was convicted in Maine of the mur-
der of Lori Ward.
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[*648]

On that same day, Oken drove to Freeport, Maine,
which is approximately a one hour drive from the
Coachman. At 7:54 p.m., Oken checked into the Freeport
Inn. According to the desk clerk, Katherine Jones, Oken
paid in cash for one night's stay in room 250. As Oken
was walking away from the desk, Jones observed blood on
the back of his head. Jones brought this fact to Oken's at-
tention, but Oken indicated that he was "okay." Sometime
between 10:00 a.m. and 10:30 a.m. on the following morn-
ing, November 17, 1987, Oken paid for an additional
night's lodging at the Freeport Inn. Oken never checked
out of the Coachman.

Returning our attention to the preceding day,
November 16, at approximately 6:45 p.m., the Kittery
police responded to a distress call from the Coachman.
Upon arrival at the motel, the police found the body of
Lori Ward in a small room behind the front desk. Ms.
Ward had[***27] been shot to death.

[**268] The police began their investigation of

Ward's murder by knocking on the doors of every mo-
tel room in the Coachman, including Oken's room, Room
48. There was no response at Room 48. The police then
began a log, which they kept until 1:00 a.m. the next
morning, of all persons and vehicles entering and exit-
ing the motel. Neither Oken, nor his car were seen that
evening.

At 4:45 a.m., on that same morning, Diana Ott re-
turned to the Coachman. As part of her daily morning
routine, Ott drove around the parking lot to see what cars
were in front of what rooms. Ott testified that the purpose
of this check was to discover "what rooms had checked
out or if people had left early" so that she could inform
her maids as to which rooms to start to clean first. Ott
noted that at that time only four cars were in the lot and
Oken's was not one of them. At 7:30 a.m., the maids ar-
rived and were ready to start stripping beds and cleaning
the unoccupied rooms. In light of the prior night's events,
however, Ott decided to call the Kittery police before let-
ting the maids enter the rooms. The police asked Ott to
postpone the clean--up of all the
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[*649] rooms until they could[***28] perform a "sweep
search" of the rooms.

At 8:00 a.m., on November 17, the Kittery police ar-
rived at the Coachman. Upon their arrival, Ott gave to
them, at their request, a list of the rooms which were
unoccupied so that they could search these rooms. The
list indicated that Room 48, Oken's room, was unoccu-
pied. The police knocked at and entered every unoccupied
room, and one occupied room, until they reached Room
48 at approximately 9:30 a.m. This was before the 11:00
a.m. check--out time at the Coachman. There was no an-
swer at Room 48, so the police unlocked the door and
entered the room. Once inside Room 48, the police dis-
covered a bottle of vodka, a half--gallon of orange juice,
a few small pieces of rope, a pair of socks, a shirt with
blood stains on it, and blood smudges on the wall in the
bathroom. There were no toilet articles, personal belong-
ings, luggage, or any kind of bags in the room, and the
bed had not been turned down.

After discovering these articles in Room 48, the po-

lice went to Ott, and asked her who was the last person to
stay in Room 48. She checked her records and informed
the police that Oken was the last individual to occupy
Room 48. She also gave them[***29] the license tag
number for the vehicle he was driving. When the police
sought information by teletype about the registration of
that automobile, they learned that Oken was wanted in
connection with two murders in Maryland and that the
car he was driving had been stolen the previous day in
Maryland.

At approximately 5:10 p.m., on November 17, 1987,
Oken was arrested at the Freeport Inn. Upon his arrest, the
police seized the tennis shoes that he was wearing along
with all his personal belongings and his car. During the
guilt or innocence stage of Oken's trial, one of the tennis
shoes seized was matched with the piece of rubber found
in Dawn Garvin's apartment on the night of her murder.

At a pre--trial hearing, Oken moved to suppress the
tennis shoes as fruit of an illegal arrest prompted by an
illegal
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[*650] search of his room at the Coachman Inn. The
trial court denied suppression of the tennis shoes on the
alternative grounds that: 1) Oken had abandoned any ex-
pectation of privacy in room 48, and therefore had no
standing to challenge the police search of that room, n6
Duncan and Smith v. State, 281 Md. 247, 378 A.2d 1108
(1977); [***30] and 2) the evidence found in Room
48 would inevitably have been discovered either when
a [**269] search was made after check--out time n7 or
when the maid went to clean the room.Nix v. Williams,
467 U.S. 431, 104 S.Ct. 2501, 81 L.Ed.2d 377 (1984).

n6 Prior to his trial in Maine for the murder of
Lori Ward, Oken moved to suppress the evidence
seized in the warrantless search of Room 48. The
trial court denied that motion finding that Oken had
abandoned the motel room prior to the time of the
search and thus did not have a reasonable expec-
tation of privacy to the room or its contents. The
Supreme Judicial Court of Maine affirmed that rul-
ing on Oken's appeal from his conviction of Ward's
murder.State v. Oken, 569 A.2d 1218 (Me.1990).

n7 In the instant case, the police thoroughly
checked Room 48 after the 11:00 a.m. check--out

time with the consent of the motel's manager.

On appeal, Oken contends that the hearing court's rul-
ing was [***31] erroneous. He claims that Room 48
was not abandoned at the time the police conducted their
search prior to the 11:00 a.m. checkout time, and that
the prosecution failed to meet its burden of proving that
the items found in Room 48 would have been inevitably
discovered.

Before addressing the merits of Oken's contentions,
we reiterate that:

"When the question is whether a consti-
tutional right, such as the one here, has been
violated, we make our own independent con-
stitutional appraisal . . . . by reviewing the
law and applying it to the peculiar facts of
the particular case.State v. Gee, 298 Md.
565, 571, 471 A.2d 712, cert. denied, 467
U.S. 1244, 104 S.Ct. 3519, 82 L.Ed.2d 827
(1984).When the facts are in dispute, we ac-
cept them as found by the trial judge unless
he is clearly erroneous in his judgment on the
evidence before him. In ascertaining
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[*651] whether he is clearly erroneous, we
give 'due regard to the opportunity of the
trial court to judge the credibility of the
witnesses,' as commanded by Md.Rule 8--
131(c). When the question of the dishonor
of a constitutional[***32] right arises by
the denial of a motion to suppress, the rele-
vant facts which we consider 'are limited to
those produced at the suppression hearing,
see Trusty v. State, 308 Md. 658, 521 A.2d
749 (1987),which are most favorable to the
State as the prevailing party on the motion.'
Simpler v. State, 318 Md. 311, 312, 568 A.2d
22 (1990)."

Riddick v. State, 319 Md. 180, 183, 571 A.2d 1239, 1240--
41 (1990).

A.

Oken's first contention regarding the hearing court's
denial of his motion to suppress the tennis shoes is that
the hearing court incorrectly applied the test for aban-
donment announced by this Court inDuncan and Smith,
supra, 281 Md. at 265, 378 A.2d at 1119.In Duncan and

Smith, we held that:

"'Abandonment is primarily a question of
intent, and intent may be inferred from words
spoken, acts done, and other objective facts
. . . . All relevant circumstances existing at
the time of the alleged abandonment should
be considered . . . . The issue is not aban-
donment in the strict property--right[***33]
sense, but whether the person prejudiced by
the search had voluntarily discarded, left be-
hind, or otherwise relinquished his interest
in the property in question so that he could
no longer retain a reasonable expectation of
privacy with regard to it at the time of the
search.'"

(quotingUnited States v. Colbert, 474 F.2d 174, 176 (5th
Cir.1973)(citations omitted)). According to Oken, "it is
clear from this test that the circumstances to be examined
are those existingat the time of alleged abandonment."
(emphasis Oken's). He argues that because the hearing
court based its determination of whether he abandoned
Room 48 on an objective assessment of the facts pre-
sented
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[*652] to the court at the time of the hearing, rather than
on an evaluation of the circumstances known to the po-
lice at the time they entered Room 48, the court's ruling
was error. Oken maintains that, given the circumstances
known to the officers when they first entered Room 48,
the evidence in this case does not support a finding of
abandonment.

The State, on the other hand, contends that the hearing
court properly found that Oken had abandoned Room 48
based upon an objective[***34] analysis of the circum-
stances known to the court at the time of the suppression
hearing. It argues that Oken fails to recognize the distinc-
tion between the question of abandonment[**270] in
the context of whether the Fourth Amendment is applica-
ble versus the question of abandonment in the context of
whether the Fourth Amendment has been satisfied. In the
instant case, the State submits that question confronting
the motions judge was whether the Fourth Amendment
was applicable. It points out the fact that during the
suppression hearing the prosecutor repeatedly raised the
issue of whether Oken had standing to challenge the ini-
tial search of Room 48 by arguing that Oken had aban-

doned that room. Thus, since standing is an issue of
Fourth Amendment applicability, the State contends that
the proper standard of review is one based upon an objec-
tive and historical assessment of the facts known to the
hearing court at the time of the suppression hearing. In
support of this proposition, the State relies on our decision
in Faulkner v. State, 317 Md. 441, 446, 564 A.2d 785, 787
(1989),where we explained:

"'When we shift issues from that of
Fourth [***35] Amendment satisfaction to
that of Fourth Amendment applicability [i.e.
standing], our criteria for measuring change
dramatically. The concern shifts from the
merits of the litigation to the entitlement to
litigate. The focus shifts from the subjective
viewpoint of the policeman to the objective
appraisal of the trial judge. The timeframe
shifts from the moment of search or seizure to
the moment of the suppression ruling. The
object of the measurement shifts from rea-
sonable appearances to historic
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[*653] reality. What finally matters shifts
from what the policeman reasonably believed
out on the street to what the suppression
hearing judge ultimately knows in the court-
room.'"

(quoting Ruffin v. State, 77 Md.App. 93, 549 A.2d 411
(1988)).The State argues that, under such an objective
analysis, there was ample evidence supporting the hear-
ing court's finding that Oken had abandoned Room 48.

After reviewing the record in the instant case, we
agree that the State raised, and vigorously argued, the
question of whether Oken had standing to contest the
search of Room 48. Therefore, since the issue of stand-
ing was raised, we hold that[***36] the proper basis for
the court's analysis was an objective and historical assess-
ment of the circumstances known to the court at the time
of the suppression hearing.See Faulkner, supra, 317 Md.
at 446, 564 A.2d at 787.

Having concluded that the hearing court used the

proper focus for its analysis, we turn to the question
of whether there were sufficient facts before the hear-
ing judge to support his finding that Oken had abandoned
Room 48 before the police entered that room without
a warrant at approximately 9:30 a.m. on November 17,
1987. The factual predicate for our review is that evi-
dence adduced at the suppression hearing which is most
favorable to the State as the prevailing party on the mo-
tion. Riddick, supra, 319 Md. at 183, 571 A.2d at 1240--
41; Simpler v. State, 318 Md. 311, 312, 568 A.2d 22,
22 (1990).During the suppression hearing, the State pre-
sented the following evidence: 1) only five hours after
Oken checked into the Coachman, he drove for approxi-
mately an hour and a half to Freeport, Maine and checked
into the Freeport Inn; 2)[***37] Oken left nothing in
Room 48 except a bloody shirt, a dirty pair of socks, half
a bottle of vodka, and some orange juice; 3) Oken left no
luggage in Room 48; 4) from the police logs kept by the
police at the Coachman it is clear that Oken did not return
to the motel before approximately 1:00 a.m. on
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[*654] November 17th; 5) from the testimony of the
manager at the Coachman, Oken was not at the motel
after 4:45 a.m. on the 17th, and there is no evidence that
he returned to the Coachman between 1:00 a.m. and 4:45
a.m.; 6) the bed in Room 48 was not slept in; 7) testimony
by a manager at the Freeport Inn placed Oken near the
Freeport Inn some time between 10:00 a.m. and 10:30
a.m. on November 17th, at which time he paid for an
additional night's lodging at the Freeport Inn. In light of
such a record, we hold that the hearing judge's ruling on
abandonment was not clearly erroneous.

B.

On the issue of inevitable discovery, Oken contends
that the hearing court's ruling[**271] was erroneous be-
cause the State did not meet its burden of demonstrating
that "certain proper and predictable investigatory proce-
dures would have been utilized . . . and . . . that those
procedures would have inevitably[***38] resulted in the

discovery of the evidence in question."Stokes v. State,
289 Md. 155, 163, 423 A.2d 552, 556 (1980)(quoting
LaCount and Girese,The "Inevitable Discovery" Rule, an
Evolving Exception to the Constitutional Exclusionary
Rule, 40 Alb.L.Rev. 483, 491 (1976). See also Nix, supra,
467 U.S. at 444, 104 S.Ct. at 2509, 81 L.Ed.2d at 387--
88.Specifically, Oken submits that the State did not show
that: 1) the police would have conducted a search of
Room 48 pursuant to a warrant or valid consent from the
owner of the Coachman, and 2) the procedures followed
by the maids in the motel would have inevitably led to the
discovery of the evidence in Room 48. We disagree.

During the suppression hearing, the State called the
manager of the Coachman, Diana Ott. Ott testified that,
absent the initial entry by the police into Room 48, certain
predictable and customary cleaning procedures would
have been utilized, and would have resulted in the dis-
covery of the items found in Room 48. She recounted
that at 4:45
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[*655] a.m., on the day after Lori[***39] Ward's mur-
der, she circled the parking lot of the motel to determine
which of the motel rooms that were occupied overnight
were now vacant and thus ready for cleaning. Ott tes-
tified: "I drove around the parking lot. I did that rou-
tinely. I did that every morning." She then attested that
had she not called Chief Strong of the Kittery police to
notify him that she would be cleaning the recently oc-
cupied rooms, the cleaning crew, accompanied by her,
would have started cleaning the rooms at approximately
7:00 a.m. and would have finished no later than 8:00 a.m.
Ott further noted that in light of the events of the previ-
ous night, she would have picked up the shirt, and upon
discovering the blood, would "immediately" have called
Chief Strong. Accordingly, we conclude that the State
presented ample evidence demonstrating that the items in
Room 48 would have been inevitably discovered through
lawful means, and therefore the motion judge's ruling was
not clearly erroneous.

In holding that the hearing court's ruling on inevitable
discovery was not clearly erroneous, we also reject Oken's
alternative contention that the doctrine of inevitable dis-

covery should not apply in any event because[***40]
the police acted in bad faith when they searched Room 48
prior to the 11:00 a.m. checkout time. As the Supreme
Court held inNix, supra, 467 U.S. at 445, 104 S.Ct. at
2509, 81 L.Ed.2d at 388:

"The requirement that the prosecution
must prove the absence of bad faith . . . would
place courts in the position of withholding
from the juries relevant and undoubted truth
that would have been available to police ab-
sent any unlawful police activity. Of course,
that view would put the police in aworse
position than they would have been in if
no unlawful conduct had transpired. And
of equal importance, it wholly fails to take
into account the enormous societal cost of
excluding truth in the search for truth in the
administration of justice."

(emphasis in original). See also United States v.
Whitehorn, 813 F.2d 646, 649--50 (4th Cir.1987), cert.
denied, 487
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[*656] U.S. 1234, 108 S.Ct. 2898, 101 L.Ed.2d 931 (1988)
(inevitable discovery doctrine applied to evidence discov-
ered during illegal bomb sweep of apartment).

IV.

We next[***41] consider the issue of whether the trial
court erred in permitting Special Agent William Heilman
to testify as an expert at Oken's trial on guilt or inno-
cence. The State called Heilman to testify regarding his
comparison of the piece of rubber found in Dawn Garvin's
apartment and a tennis shoe seized from Oken when he
was arrested. During thevoir dire on his qualifications,
Heilman testified that he worked at the Federal Bureau
of Investigation ("FBI") as "an examiner of questioned
documents." In addition to making comparisons or exam-
inations of questioned documents, Heilman pointed out
that he had examined shoe prints, tire tracks, plastic bags,
and that he had performed torn edge[**272] compar-
isons of paper, tape, plastic bags, and matches. Heilman
stated, however, that he had never performed a torn edge
comparison with rubber.

Based on Heilman'svoir dire, the State asked the trial
court to qualify Heilman as an expert in forensic com-
parisons. The court declined to do so, but allowed the
prosecutor to further question Heilman regarding his torn
edge comparison expertise. In response to furthervoir
dire examination by the State, defense counsel, and the
trial court, Heilman[***42] explained that he received
on--the--job training in the area of torn edge comparisons
through his work at the FBI. Specifically, Heilman stated
that between 1981 and 1983 he received training in a
laboratory as an assistant to a senior examiner, and that
after 1983 he became qualified by the FBI to conduct his
own torn edge comparisons. Since 1983, Heilman testi-
fied that he had been involved in approximately 12 cases
involving torn edge comparisons, and that any one case
may require "thousands" of comparisons. Nevertheless,
Heilman admitted that he had never testified as an expert
in torn edge comparisons.
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[*657]

In addition to relating his experience with torn edge
comparisons during thevoir direexamination on his qual-
ifications, Heilman described the procedures involved in
conducting a torn edge comparison. He stated that, in
conjunction with performing side--by--side comparisons,
he would ordinarily compare the color, thickness, and
microscopic line crossings of the items in question. He
related that in conducting the examination of the rubber
and the tennis shoe in the present case, he "made a cast
of the individual area of the shoe to look at the external
torn structure[***43] and compare that to the [piece of
rubber]."

At the conclusion of Heilman'svoir dire examina-
tion on his qualifications, a bench conference was held
wherein the following colloquy occurred:

"[PROSECUTOR]: Judge, according ---- I am
in the area of torn edge comparisons. I would
point out to the Court that an expert only has
to be one who has more experience than a
layman and that is someone who can give an
opinion that will be of appreciable help to the
jury. Clearly, while this is the first time this

person has ever done an examination with a
piece of rubber, he is quite candid that he said
that. There has to be a first time for all of
us. There is a first time for his handwriting,
too. Clearly, by his experience and knowl-
edge and doing side--by--side comparisons in
other materials, he can give help to the jury
because he knows more than they do. That
is all the law says. He can be of appreciable
help to the jury as to what he is testifying
outside the layman's normal experience. I
think it is clear that his experience, training,
knowledge, and on the job work goes well
beyond what any normal layman can do and
to allow us an opinion upon that.

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: He is simply
[***44] trying to offer this witness to sub-
stitute his eyesight [for that] of the jury. This
man is not qualified as a torn edge expert. He
is certainly not qualified as an expert on rub-
ber and he is his own ---- he is self--qualified,
if qualified at all. The jury can look as well
as I can look. He is only going to
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[*658] confuse them and prejudice them that
he works for the FBI and so on. He has had
no further experience. I mean, what it comes
down to, the State is asking this guy to tell
the jury what he should find. Period. It is a
matter of eyesight. They can do that as well
as he can do that.

"THE COURT: Well, I think that goes
to the weight that the jury will give the ex-
pert. I think that the witness has qualified as
an expert to offer that which is beyond the
ability of the jurors. Compare in light of the
techniques that are used beyond experts in
his comparisons, as to his, not only whether
it matches from a side--by--side comparison
or putting together composites, but also from
the microscopic crossings of the lines are in
a piece as compared to the shoe itself. There
is expertise beyond those layman's ability to
compare what this witness has in light of his
training and[***45] experience as he has
described it. So the objection to the wit-
ness being qualified is overruled.[**273] I
would tell the witness that he is qualified and

his testimony is for their determination as to
its weight.

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: May I say this
for the record? He has no validity with re-
gard to comparing rubber pieces, torn edges
or otherwise. He described his function and
his method of operation as trying to put a jig-
saw puzzle together. This jury is the putter
together of the jigsaw puzzle in this case and
this guy wants to put the puzzle together for
them. That is the jury's function.

"THE COURT: I disagree. I think
Counsel has made on the record as part of
what the witness said, but the witness went
on to say that his evaluation did show that he
did the line comparison by the microscopic
crossings of the lines. He can testify because
only he did it and the jury does not have the
facility to do that kind of testing on their own.
And in light of his background with respect
to paper, plastic, matches, paper and tape, his
expertise exceeds that as the general layman.
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[*659]

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I welcome
Your Honor's ruling. He has shown no qual-
ifications as a cast maker,[***46] Your
Honor.

"THE COURT: You can cross--examine
that.

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Thank you."

Thereafter, the trial court accepted Heilman as an expert
in the field of torn edge comparisons, and Heilman ex-
plained to the jury how he examined Oken's tennis shoe
and the piece of rubber found in Dawn Garvin's apart-
ment. Heilman concluded that, in his opinion, "the piece
of rubber at one time was part of the sole of the known
shoe."

Before us, Oken renews his objection to the trial
court's ruling allowing Heilman to testify as an expert.
He argues that: 1) Heilman's testimony as an expert was
not relevant because it did not aid the jury in determining
whether or not the piece of rubber fit the tennis shoe; and
2) assuming,arguendo, expert testimony was necessary,

Heilman did not qualify as an expert. We perceive no
error in the trial court's rulings.

It is well settled that "the admissibility of expert tes-
timony is a matter largely within the discretion of the
trial court, and its action in admitting or excluding such
testimony will seldom constitute a ground for reversal."
Stebbing v. State, 299 Md. 331, 350, 473 A.2d 903, 912,
cert. denied[***47] , 469 U.S. 900, 105 S.Ct. 276, 83
L.Ed.2d 212 (1984)(quotingRaithel v. State, 280 Md. 291,
301, 372 A.2d 1069, 1074--75 (1977)).The Maryland test
for admissibility of expert testimony was reviewed by this
Court inSimmons v. State, 313 Md. 33, 41--42, 542 A.2d
1258, 1262 (1988):

"A determination as to the admissibil-
ity of expert testimony is based on several
findings. First, the trial court must deter-
mine whether the evidence to be presented is
a proper subject for expert testimony. The
standard for relevance under Maryland com-
mon law is whether the jury will receive ap-
preciable help from the expert testimony in
resolving the issues presented in the case.
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[*660]

"Before expert testimony is admitted the
court must also determine whether the pro-
posed expert is qualified to testify by virtue
of education and experience.

"Finally, the proposed expert testimony
must be competent, that is, the expert's con-
clusions must be based upon a legally suf-
ficient factual foundation. Ideally, the ex-
pert will testify from first--hand knowledge,
[***48] such as that gained from a personal
examination of an individual. Only with the
basis for the expert testimony revealed will
the jury be able to properly weigh the evi-
dence."

(citations omitted).

In the present case, we believe that the record of
Heilman'svoir direexamination on his qualifications sup-
ports the trial judge's conclusions that Heilman's testi-
mony would be helpful to the jury, and that Heilman was
qualified to testify as an expert based on his FBI training.

During hisvoir dire examination, Heilman testified that
in addition to conducting a simple side--by--side compar-
ison of the items in[**274] question, the procedure for
making torn edge comparisons involved the examination
of microscopic line crossings and the casting of mold-
ings. Such techniques are certainly not within a juror's
everyday experience and, therefore, would aid the jury in
determining whether the piece of rubber found in Dawn
Garvin's apartment matched the tennis shoe seized from
Oken.

With respect to Heilman's qualifications, Heilman tes-
tified that he had received two years of experience compar-
ing torn edges as an assistant in a laboratory for the FBI,
and has been qualified by the FBI to conduct[***49] torn
edge comparisons on his own for approximately seven
years. During those years, Heilman stated that he was
involved in at least twelve cases requiring torn edge com-
parisons and that each case may involve "thousands" of
comparisons. Although he acknowledged that he never
had occasion to make a torn edge comparison with rubber
substances, Heilman stated that the technique normally
used in making torn edge comparisons was utilized in the
casesub judice. We
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[*661] hold that the trial court did not abuse its discretion
in permitting Heilman to testify as an expert.

V.

Next, we consider Oken's contention that there was
insufficient evidence to support his convictions for bur-
glary and first degree sexual offense. Recently, inWiggins
v. State, 324 Md. 551, 566--67, 597 A.2d 1359, 1366--67
(1991), cert. denied, U.S. , 112 S.Ct. 1765, 118 L.Ed.2d
427 (1992),Chief Judge Murphy speaking for the Court
reiterated the standard that we apply when reviewing the
sufficiency of the evidence in a criminal case:

"In Tichnell v. State, 287 Md. 695, 415
A.2d 830 (1980),[***50] an appeal in a
death penalty case, we stated that the stan-
dard to be applied in reviewing the suffi-
ciency of the evidence to support a criminal
conviction was '"whether the record evidence
could reasonably support a finding of guilt
beyond a reasonable doubt."'Tichnell, 287
Md. at 717, 415 A.2d 830(quotingJackson
v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 318, 99 S.Ct. 2781,

2788, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)).This standard
does not require a court to '"ask itself whether
it believes that the evidence at the trial es-
tablished guilt beyond a reasonable doubt"';
rather, the standard to apply is '"whether, af-
ter viewing the evidence in the light most
favorable to the prosecution,any rational
trier of fact could have found the essential
elements of the crime beyond a reasonable
doubt."'Jackson v. Virginia, supra, 443 U.S.
at 318--19, 99 S.Ct. at 2788--89(emphasis
in original). We recently restated this stan-
dard of review in these terms: '"[T]he consti-
tutional standard of review is 'whether after
considering the evidence in the[***51] light
most favorable to the prosecution, any ratio-
nal trier of fact could have found the essential
elements of the crime beyond a reasonable
doubt.'"'Wilson v. State, [319 Md. 530, 535,
573 A.2d 831, 833 (1990)(quoting West v.
State, 312 Md. 197, 207, 539 A.2d 231, 236
(1988))]."
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[*662] With this standard in mind, we separately review
whether Oken's convictions for burglary and first degree
sexual offense are adequately supported by the evidence.

A.

Burglary is defined as "the breaking and entering of
the dwelling house of another in the nighttime with an in-
tent to commit a felony."Warfield v. State, 315 Md. 474,
493, 554 A.2d 1238, 1248 (1989); State v. Davis, 310
Md. 611, 617, 530 A.2d 1223, 1226 (1987).The breaking
element of burglary "may be satisfied where it is shown
that there has been an 'actual' breaking, or the breaking
occurred 'constructively,' through an entry gained by arti-
fice, by fraud, conspiracy, or by threats."Brooks v. State,
277 Md. 155, 159--60, 353 A.2d 217, 220 (1976)[***52]
(quotingWilliams v. State, 205 Md. 470, 477, 109 A.2d
89, 93 (1954)).

In the present case, Oken asserts that there was no
evidence of actual or constructive breaking to support his
conviction for burglary. The State, to the contrary, main-
tains that it presented ample evidence to establish that

a constructive breaking[**275] occurred. It points to
the testimony of Mark Glidden, Robert Strange, Bonnie
Winkelman, Gregory Gunnell, and Burnita Wilder as es-
tablishing that on three occasions prior to, but in temporal
proximity to, Dawn Garvin's murder Oken attempted to
gain entry to residences by fraudulently representing to
the occupant that he needed to use the telephone and,
on one occasion, that Oken attempted to stop a woman
who was driving alone in her car by posing as a police-
man. Based upon this evidence, the State submits that the
jury could have reasonably inferred that Oken employed
a similar ruse to gain entry to Dawn Garvin's apartment.
We are not convinced.

While it is true that we have stated that a convic-
tion may rest on circumstantial evidence alone,Wilson
v. State, 319 Md. 530, 536, 573 A.2d 831, 834 (1990);
[***53] Veney v. State, 251 Md. 182, 201, 246 A.2d 568,
579 (1968), cert. denied, 394 U.S. 948, 89 S.Ct. 1284, 22
L.Ed.2d 482 (1969),we have also explained:
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[*663] "to ensure that the trier of fact bases
a finding of guilt on the appropriate degree
of certainty, . . . a conviction [based] upon
circumstantial evidencealone is not to be
sustained unless the circumstances, taken to-
gether, are inconsistent with any reasonable
hypothesis of innocence."

Wilson, supra, 319 Md. at 536--37, 573 A.2d at 834(em-
phasis in original), and cases cited therein.

Here, aside from the evidence of ruses employed by
Oken in connection with the entry or attempted entry
of other residences in the neighborhood of the victim's
apartment, the record is completely devoid of any evi-
dence showing a breaking, either actual or constructive,
of Dawn Garvin's apartment. Consequently, we are not
convinced that a jury could find such circumstantial evi-
dence inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis that the
victim's apartment was entered by Oken without[***54]
a constructive breaking. Therefore, we hold that Oken's
conviction for burglary must be reversed. Since our rever-
sal is based on the lack of sufficient evidence to sustain

Oken's conviction, he cannot be retried for that alleged
burglary.Warfield v. State, supra, 315 Md. at 502, 554
A.2d at 1252 (1989).

B.

As to Oken's conviction for the crime of first degree
sexual offense, Md.Code (1957, 1987 Repl.Vol.), Art. 27,
§ 464(a) provided:

"A person is guilty of a sexual offense in the
first degree if the person engages in a sexual
act:

(1) With another person by force or threat of
force against the will and without the consent
of the other person, and:

(i) Employs or displays a dangerous or deadly
weapon or an article which the other per-
son reasonably concludes is a dangerous or
deadly weapon; or



Page 32
327 Md. 628, *664; 612 A.2d 258, **275;

1992 Md. LEXIS 148, ***54; 17 A.L.R.5th 893

[*664] (ii) Inflicts suffocation, strangula-
tion, disfigurement, or serious physical in-
jury upon the other person or upon anyone
else in the course of committing the offense;
or

(iii) Threatens or places the victim in fear that
the victim or any person known to the victim
will be imminently subjected to death, suf-
focation, strangulation,[***55] disfigure-
ment, serious physical injury, or kidnapping;
or

(iv) The person commits the offense aided
and abetted by one or more other persons."

A "sexual act" as used in this subsection was defined in
Art. 27, § 461(e) to include the "penetration, however
slight, by any object into the genital or anal opening of
another person's body if the penetration can be reasonably
construed as being for the purpose of sexual arousal or for
abuse of either party . . . ." Although Oken acknowledges
that the victim was found with a bottle inserted into her
vagina, he argues that the State presented no evidence at
trial from which a rational juror could conclude, beyond

a reasonable doubt, that Dawn Garvin was alive when the
bottle was inserted into her vagina. We disagree.

In addition to the fact that Dawn Garvin was found
nude lying on her bed in her bedroom with a bottle pro-
truding from her vagina, there was also evidence that: 1)
her clothing was found strewn about the[**276] liv-
ing room floor; 2) her brassiere was not unfastened, but
instead was ripped on the side; 3) her pants were found
turned inside out, and 4) a search of Oken's home on
November 16, 1992, revealed a list in Oken's handwriting
[***56] which included the following items:

"gauze pads; 5 by 11 inches by 4 inches,
chloroform, N25B, gag; sock and adhesive
tape, two inches by five inches by five yards;
surgical gloves from the store, camera; come,
[sic] film and flash; store; panty hose, dark
color to cover hair and face; reading glasses;
dildos; vibrators; et cetera, possible capsules,
glass covers, store."

From this evidence a permissible inference can be drawn
that the victim resisted the commission of a sexual act
upon
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[*665] her by Oken who had come prepared to forcibly
perpetrate sexual offenses upon a live victim whom he
might have to immobilize by binding and gagging. In
light of that permissible inference, we believe that a ra-
tional trier of fact could have concluded beyond a reason-
able doubt that Dawn Garvin was still alive when Oken
inserted the bottle into her vagina.Cf. Hines v. State, 58
Md.App. 637, 665--66, 473 A.2d 1335, 1348--49 (1984).
Accordingly, we shall uphold Oken's conviction for first
degree sexual offense.

C.

Oken also suggests that his conviction of first degree
murder under the theory of a felony murder is invalid be-
cause it is impossible[***57] to determine whether the
jury relied on burglary as the predicate felony in reaching
that verdict. Consequently, he argues that his conviction
of felony murder must be reversed. This argument has no
relevance to what actually occurred in the trial court.

The jury in finding Oken guilty of first degree murder
expressly based its verdict on both the deliberate and pre-

meditated killing of the victim and upon the felony mur-
der theory. The jurors so indicated on the verdict sheet
which they completed prior to announcing their verdicts.
Oken was also found guilty of burglary, first degree sex-
ual offense and the use of a handgun in the commission
of a crime of violence. Consequently, Oken was sub-
ject to punishment for first degree murder as well as for
the felonies of burglary and first degree sexual offense.
State v. Frye, 283 Md. 709, 722--23, 393 A.2d 1372, 1379
(1978).

At the sentencing stage of the proceedings on the
first degree murder conviction, the State sought the death
penalty based upon only one of the aggravating circum-
stances required by Art. 27, § 413(d), i.e., that Oken
committed the murder while committing or attempting
[***58] to commit a sexual offense in the first degree.
In his instructions to the sentencing jury, the trial judge
admonished the jurors:

"Now, before a death sentence can be
considered by you, the first--degree murder
must have been accompanied
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[*666] by the aggravating circumstance al-
leged by the State. Now, the only aggravat-
ing circumstance which you may consider is
the first degree sexual offense, not the bur-
glary or not the handgun violation. The State
alleged as its aggravating circumstance the
first--degree sexual offense. Now, a finding
that the aggravating circumstance as alleged
by the State in this case exists must be unan-
imous by you."

In their verdict that the death penalty should be im-
posed upon Oken for first degree murder, the jurors ex-
pressly found that the sole aggravating circumstance re-
lied upon by the State had been proven beyond a reason-
able doubt.

After the sentence of death was imposed by the jury,
the court sentenced Oken for the remaining crimes of
which he had been convicted by the jury. At that sen-
tencing the following colloquy occurred between the trial
judge and defense counsel:

"THE COURT: Now, with respect to the
balance of the counts, is the defense[***59]

prepared?

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Yes, Your
Honor, I would move to merge the two
murder convictions and I would move to
merge everything into the existing convic-
tion [**277] on the first count, Your Honor.
n8

"THE COURT: Well, the two murder
convictions ---- there's only going to be one
sentence under count one. That's a sentence
of death.

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: But there
were two convictions, Your Honor.

"THE COURT: Right. Well, it was one
conviction under two theories. But if it will,
if you think I have to clarify the record, the
felony murder conviction will merge into the
premeditated murder conviction for sentenc-
ing purposes."

Thus, the record clearly reflects that Oken was never sen-
tenced for first degree murder under the felony murder
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[*667] theory; accordingly, the issue which Oken at-
tempts to present was never generated in the trial court.

n8 We do not endorse the theory that this was a
merger situation.

VI.

Oken next claims that the trial court erred in admit-
ting certain identification testimony of Detective Robert
[***60] Capel. Detective Capel was called by the State
during Oken's trial on guilt or innocence. On direct ex-
amination, Detective Capel recounted that the witnesses
who previously testified concerning Oken's attempts to
gain entry into their residences by fraudulently repre-
senting that he needed to use the telephone, and in one
woman's case, that Oken had attempted to stop her car by
posing as a policeman, had identified Oken from photo-
graphic arrays as the perpetrator of these ruses. On cross--
examination, defense counsel asked Detective Capel who
else in addition to the four individuals identified on direct
examination had seen the photographic arrays. The de-
tective responded that, apart from "Debbie Hime," who
was the babysitter for one of those individuals, "a Helen
Hollingsworth and a Ms. Jane Watkins" also saw the ar-
rays. Following that cross--examination, the following

redirect examination ensued:

"[PROSECUTOR]: Just a couple ques-
tions. And Ms. Watkins to whom you showed
the photo array, what incident, what date was
her incident?

"[WITNESS]: Well, it was ----

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Not incident,
but date?

"[PROSECUTOR]: That is correct.

"[WITNESS]: It was November 3, 1987.

"[PROSECUTOR]:[***61] Okay. And
Ms. Hollingsworth to whom you showed
photos?

"[WITNESS]: That was before this inci-
dent. I believe that was summer, July. You
want me to check the date?

"[PROSECUTOR]: No, that is okay.

"[WITNESS]: Well, it was July.

"[PROSECUTOR]: Debbie Hime?
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[*668]

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: That is the
one that he is talking about.

"[WITNESS]: No, sir.

"[PROSECUTOR]: Debbie Hime was
Mr. Gunnell's baby--sitter?

"[WITNESS]: Yes.

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Did we get a
date?

"[PROSECUTOR]: Do you recall what
date that something ---- that occasioned you to
show her photos?

"[WITNESS]: Yes, that was before
November 1st. I believe it was the 28th when
the incident happened to her.

"[PROSECUTOR]: And did Ms. Watkins
and Ms. Hollingsworth make an identifica-
tion?

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Objection.

"THE COURT: Overruled.

"[WITNESS]: Yes, they did.

"[PROSECUTOR]: And that is all I have
on re--direct.

"THE COURT: Any re--cross?

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: None, Your
Honor. No, I do. Who decided which iden-
tifications you would talk about today [you]
or someone else?

"[WITNESS]: I'm afraid I do not under-
stand.

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Who decided
that you would refer to the identifications
of Mr. Strange, Ms. Wilder, Mr. Gunnell
[***62] and Mr. Glidden today? Did you
make that decision?

"[WITNESS]: No, sir.

[**278] "[DEFENSE COUNSEL]:
Thank you.

"[PROSECUTOR]: Nothing further."

Before us, Oken argues that the trial court's admission
of the State's "entire line of questioning" on redirect ex-
amination of Detective Capel constituted reversible error.
Specifically, Oken argues that the admission of evidence
that he had been "identified" by Ms. Hollingsworth and
Ms. Watkins was: 1) irrelevant to any disputed issue in the
case; 2) prejudicial because it amounted to "other crimes"
evidence; 3) inadmissible hearsay; and 4) violative of his
Sixth
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[*669] Amendment right to confrontation because "Ms.
Hollingsworth and Mr. Watkins were in a significant sense
[his] accusers." The State replies that "Oken's challenge
to the prosecutor's 'entire line of questioning' on redirect
[was] in large measure waived," and, in any event, all
of Oken's substantive arguments fail under the theory of
"opening the door."

Generally speaking, the scope of examination of wit-
nesses at trial is a matter left largely to the discretion of the
trial judge and no error will be recognized unless there is
clear abuse of such discretion.Trimble v. State, 300 Md.
387, 401--02, 478 A.2d 1143, 1150 (1984),[***63] cert.
denied, 469 U.S. 1230, 105 S.Ct. 1231, 84 L.Ed.2d 368
(1985).With respect to the scope of redirect examination,
it is well settled that:

"As a general rule, redirect examination
must be confined to matters brought out on
cross--examination. However, it is within the
court's discretion to allow the introduction of
something new or forgotten if the purposes
of justice seem to demand it, and this Court

will not interfere unless there is a clear abuse
of such discretion."

Id. [300 Md.] at 402, 478 A.2d at 1150(quotingFisher
Body Division v. Alston, 252 Md. 51, 56, 249 A.2d 130,
133 (1969)); Zipus v. United Rys. & Elec. Co., 135 Md.
297, 303, 108 A. 884, 886 (1919); Blake v. Stump, 73
Md. 160, 167, 20 A. 788, 790 (1890); Feeney v. Dolan,
35 Md.App. 538, 548--49, 371 A.2d 679, 685--86, cert. de-
nied, 280 Md. 730 (1977); Bailey v. State, 16 Md.App. 83,
110--11, 294 A.2d 123, 138--39 (1972);[***64] Mills v.
State, 12 Md.App. 449, 461, 279 A.2d 473, 481--82 (1971),
cert. denied, 406 U.S. 967, 92 S.Ct. 2411, 32 L.Ed.2d 666
(1972).

Here, the record reflects that defense counsel's cross--
examination of Detective Capel opened the door to the
prosecutor's questions pertaining to the identifications
made by Ms. Hollingsworth and Ms. Watkins. During
Oken's cross--examination of Detective Capel, defense
counsel asked Detective Capel, "How many people alto-
gether
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[*670] did you show [the] display to," and, specifically,
who besides the four individuals identified on direct ex-
amination saw the photographic arrays. In asking these
questions, defense counsel clearly implied that photo-
graphic arrays were viewed by more people than those
identified on direct examination, and that these other peo-
ple could not identify Oken.

On redirect examination, the prosecutor merely re-
sponded to the implication made by defense counsel on
cross--examination by eliciting that the Hollingsworth and
Watkins incidents were not developed in the State's case
because they were not as contemporaneous with Dawn
[***65] Garvin's murder as were the incidents involving
the witnesses who were called. Therefore, since Oken
raised the Hollingsworth and Watkins issue on cross--
examination, we hold that he "cannot now be heard to
complain that the State sought to rebut its significance."
Trimble, supra, 300 Md. at 403, 478 A.2d at 1151.

Finally, we reject Oken's contention that the prosecu-

tor's redirect examination of Detective Capel constituted
"other crimes" evidence. Even assuming,arguendo, that
the witness had testified that Ms. Hollingsworth and Ms.
Watkins had identified Oken, the most such testimony
would have suggested was that on yet two more occa-
sions Oken may have engaged in behavior similar to that
recounted in connection with the four other witnesses,
none of whom testified that Oken was engaged in crimi-
nal behavior.

VII.

We next consider Oken's assertion that the trial court
erred in permitting the State[**279] to refresh the recol-
lection of a witness in the absence of an adequate founda-
tion. During the State's case on the issue of Oken's guilt
or innocence, the prosecutor called Mark Glidden to the
witness stand to establish,inter alia, that[***66] on the
night of Dawn Garvin's murder Oken: 1) gained entry to
Glidden's apartment by asking to use the telephone, and
2) left his apartment,
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[*671] walking in the direction of Dawn Garvin's apart-
ment building. On direct examination, Glidden initially
stated that he lived at 23 Lincoln Woods Apartments and
the building he saw Oken walking toward was 25 Lincoln
Woods Apartments. The prosecutor asked Glidden if he
was "sure about the apartment," and Glidden replied,
"Yes." Later, before the State concluded its direct ex-
amination of Glidden, the following exchange between
the prosecutor and Glidden took place:

"[PROSECUTOR]: Now, how long have
you lived at the present address that you just
gave?

"[WITNESS]: Lincoln Woods?

"[PROSECUTOR]: No, the one that you
live in now?

"[WITNESS]: A year.

"[PROSECUTOR]: It was prior to that
that you lived in Lincoln Woods?

"[WITNESS]: Yes.

"[PROSECUTOR]: I am going to show
you just a copy of a county police report and
ask you if this refreshes your recollection
about the number of the building that you
lived in?

"[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I object to
that, Your Honor.

"THE COURT: Overruled.

"[WITNESS]: Oh, 25 Lincoln Woods,
right.

"[PROSECUTOR]: Does[***67] that
refresh your recollection?

"[WITNESS]: Yes, I was nervous. I
made a mistake, sorry.

"[PROSECUTOR]: Just to clear it up so
there is no question about it, what was the
number of the apartment building that you
lived in?

"[WITNESS]: 25.

"[PROSECUTOR]: Okay. And it was
apartment 1B?

"[WITNESS]: Yes.

"[PROSECUTOR]: When the Defendant
left, where did he go? Did you see him leave
your apartment?

"[WITNESS]: Yes, I watched him.
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[*672]

"[PROSECUTOR]: Where did you see
him go?

"[WITNESS]: Across to the other side.

"[PROSECUTOR]: Okay. Toward what
building?

"[WITNESS]: 23.

"[PROSECUTOR]: And do you know
what time that was, approximately what time
that evening?

"[WITNESS]: Around 9:30.

"[PROSECUTOR]: I have no further
questions."

Oken argues that the trial judge's ruling permitting
the State to refresh Glidden's recollection without first es-
tablishing that Glidden had some failure of memory was
error. In support of this contention, Oken highlights the
fact that Glidden initially testified that he was "sure" of
his recollection. Oken contends that, because the point
upon which Glidden's memory was refreshed was an im-

portant one, i.e., that a man whom he identified as Oken
was [***68] heading toward Dawn Garvin's building
and not some other building on the night of Ms. Garvin's
murder, the trial court's ruling was prejudicial error. We
disagree.

While it is true that in many circumstances, an exam-
ining attorney must first establish that a witness's memory
is exhausted before refreshing the recollection of that wit-
ness,see6 L. McLain, Maryland Evidence§ 612.1 (and
cases cited therein), laying such a foundation is not an
absolute prerequisite. Instead, the question of whether a
witness's recollection may be refreshed by a writing or
some other object depends upon the particular circum-
stances present in each case, and therefore, is committed
to the sound discretion of the trial judge.Bankers Trust
Co. v. Publicker Industries, Inc., 641 F.2d 1361, 1363
(2d Cir.1981)("There is no required, ritualistic formula
for finding exhaustion of memory.")State v. Greenlee, 72
N.C.App. 269, 324 S.E.2d 48, 51--52[**280] (1985)
(prosecuting attorney did not improperly impeach State
witness merely by attempting to refresh her memory upon
realizing that her in--court testimony was contradictory to
her [***69] prior statement);Walker v. State, 445 So.2d
955, 957 (Ala.Crim.App.1983)
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[*673] (witness for State in a rape prosecution could refer
to a writing for purpose of refreshing his recollection with-
out first, as condition precedent, showing that it was nec-
essary for his recollection to be refreshed);Reproductive
Health Services, Inc. v. Lee, 660 S.W.2d 330, 335--36
(Mo.App.1983)(holding that "where witness' testimony
concerned five separate incidents of trespassing over a
period of approximately ten months, involving various
defendants, . . . trial court could, in the exercise of its
discretion, permit witness to employ written list to re-
fresh her recollection without any specific statement on
her part that she needed the list to refresh her recollec-
tion."); People v. Verodi, 150 Cal.App.2d 137, 150--51
309 P.2d 568, 576--77 (2d. Dist.1957)(holding that "in
murder prosecution, district attorney's referring witness'
attention to memorandum, previously prepared by wit-
ness, for purpose of refreshing witness' recollection and
correcting a perfectly obvious omission was proper, even
[***70] though witness had stated prior to seeing mem-
orandum, that he had testified to everything which had

been and that he did not need the memorandum to refresh
his recollection."); C. McCormick,Evidence§ 9 at 33--34
(4th ed. 1992) ("The witness may believe that she remem-
bers completely but on looking at the memorandum she
would be caused to recall additional facts. As the Chinese
proverb has it, 'The palest ink is clearer than the best mem-
ory.' On the other hand, there is the ever--present danger
that a suggestible witness may think that she remembers a
fact because she reads it. It seems eminently a matter for
discretion, rather than rule."); 3 J. Wigmore,Evidence§
765 at 145 (Chadbourn rev. (1965)) ("The forgoing rules
[on present recollection revived] should not be treated as
dogmas of inherent efficiency. They are merely crude
rules--of--thumb, worthy of the adoption for the general
purpose . . . . The trial court's discretion should control.")
6 L. McLain, Maryland Evidence§ 612.2 (underRule
612 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, "[o]nce a witness
has been asked to testify or testified to a certain matter, if
the
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[*674] witness' memory appears to be incorrect[***71]
or incomplete, counsel may attempt to refresh the witness'
recollection.").

In the instant case, we hold that the trial court did
not abuse its discretion in allowing the State to refresh
Glidden's recollection for several reasons. First, it is
clear from the record that all of the participants at the
trial, including defense counsel, had reason to believe
Glidden's initial testimony on direct examination regard-
ing the building numbers was erroneous. At a pre--trial
suppression hearing, Glidden correctly testified that he
lived in Building 25, and that the building he saw Oken
walking toward was number 23. In addition, Keith Garvin
testified at the same suppression hearing that he and his
wife, Dawn, lived in Building 23.

Second, the record reflects that it was Glidden's re-
vived testimony that came into evidence, and not the
police record itself. Specifically, the prosecutor asked
Glidden if the writing refreshed his memory. Glidden

replied: "Yes, I was nervous. I made a mistake, sorry."

Finally, the record reflects that the State did not use
the document to refresh Glidden's memory in order to get
into evidence otherwise inadmissible evidence, for at no
time did the prosecutor[***72] ever attempt to introduce
the police report into evidence.

VIII.

Oken next submits that the trial court erred in fail-
ing to restrain allegedly improper closing arguments by
the prosecutor. Specifically, Oken contends that several
remarks made by the State's Attorney during closing ar-
gument were improper because they focused on Oken's
demeanor during his trial on guilt or innocence. The first
allegedly improper remark occurred during the prosecu-
tor's initial closing argument. While reciting to the jury
why, in [**281] the State's estimation, Oken should be
convicted, the prosecutor concluded:
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[*675] "And finally is the defendant's de-
meanor during the trial. You all can consider
that for what you think that is worth and how
that weighs on the evidence."

The second remark was made during the State's rebuttal.
There, the prosecutor commented:

"Members of the jury, my final words. I
think that this crime can best be summarized
by just a little saying and that is, looks are
deceiving. He sat over here for two weeks
taking notes, talking to his lawyer, smugly
looking at all of us, listening to the judge,
listening to the evidence but looks are de-
ceiving, ladies and gentlemen,[***73] be-
cause it's the person within. It's the monster
within."

Although Oken acknowledges that he made no objection
to these remarks, he nonetheless maintains that we should
review the issue based upon the Court of Special Appeals's
holding in Holbrook v. State, 6 Md.App. 265, 250 A.2d
904 (1969).

We note at the outset that Oken's reliance onHolbrook

supra, is misplaced. InHolbrook, the defendant, unlike
Oken, preserved his contention that the prosecutor's clos-
ing remarks were improper by making a motion for a
mistrial at the conclusion of the prosecutor's remarks.
The intermediate appellate court reasoned that:

"Although it may be better for defense coun-
sel to object when the statement is made
during argument, we think that objection is
timely when brought to the attention of the
trial court when it has a reasonable opportu-
nity to correct the situation at the conclusion
of the argument."

Id. at 271, 250 A.2d at 907(footnote omitted). In the
instant case, Oken made no objections to the prosecutor's
remarks at any time.

In any event,[***74] we believe that the State's clos-
ing arguments quoted above furnish no grounds for rever-
sal. Jones v. State, 310 Md. 569, 530 A.2d 743 (1987),
judgment vacated and remanded on other grounds, 486
U.S. 1050, 108 S.Ct. 2815, 100 L.Ed.2d 916, sentence
vacated on other grounds, 314 Md. 111, 549 A.2d 17
(1988).In Jones, the defendant, like Oken in the present
case, argued that the
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[*676] prosecutor's closing argument was improper be-
cause certain comments made by the prosecutor directed
the jury's attention to the defendant's physical characteris-
tics and demeanor.Id. [310 Md.] at 579, 530 A.2d at 748.
Before ruling on the merits of the defendant's claim, we
recounted the rules guiding an appellate court when re-
viewing the propriety of a prosecutor's closing argument.
We explained:

"counsel is afforded wide latitude in present-
ing closing summation to the jury. The pros-
ecutor is allowed liberal freedom of speech
and may make any comment that is war-
ranted by the evidence or inferences[***75]
reasonably drawn therefrom. Accordingly,
counsel 'may indulge in oratorical conceit or
flourish and in illustrations and metaphorical
allusions . . . [and is] free to comment legit-
imately and to speak fully, although harshly,
on the accused's action and conduct if the
evidence supports his comments.'"

Id. at 580, 530 A.2d at 748(quoting Wilhelm v. State,

272 Md. 404, 412--13, 326 A.2d 707, 714 (1974))(cita-
tions omitted). Although we cautioned that a prosecutor
should not make remarks calculated to unfairly prejudice
the jury against the defendant by commenting on matters
not disclosed by evidence presented during the case, we
declared that:

"the mere fact that a remark made by the pros-
ecutor to the jury was improper does not nec-
essarily require a conviction to be set aside.
Reversal is only required where it appears
that the remarks of the prosecutor actually
misled the jury or were likely to have misled
or influenced the jury to the prejudice of the
accused."

Id. (citations omitted).See also Hunt v. State, 321 Md.
387, 434--35, 583 A.2d 218, 241 (1990),[***76] cert.
denied, U.S. , 112 S.Ct. 117, 116 L.Ed.2d 86 (1991).

Applying these rules to the facts inJones, we held
that the prosecutor's remarks did not constitute grounds
for reversal. [**282] We reasoned that: 1) the prose-
cutor's remarks "were fairly drawn from the evidence" at
trial; 2) the
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[*677] jurors had the opportunity to observe the defen-
dant throughout the course of the trial, and, therefore,
were free to make their own independent evaluation of
the defendant's demeanor; and 3) the jury was instructed
by the court not to consider closing arguments made by
the prosecutor as evidence.Jones, supra, 310 Md. at 581,
530 A.2d at 749.

In the instant case, the jurors observed Oken through-
out the course of the trial, and were free to reach their
own independent conclusions regarding his demeanor.
The jurors were also instructed by the trial judge that
the opening and closing arguments of counsel were not to
be considered as evidence. Moreover, the record reflects
that the evidence presented in this case fairly supported
the prosecutor's remarks concerning Oken's demeanor.
During the [***77] trial, ample evidence was presented
concerning the heinous nature of Dawn Garvin's murder.
In addition, several witnesses testified on the subject of
Oken's deceiving appearance: two witnesses described
him as appearing "cleancut," while another opined that
Oken "looked like a youthful college student." Therefore,

we hold that the prosecutor's comments made during clos-
ing arguments do not warrant reversal.

IX.

Oken's final contention is that his right to knowingly
and voluntarily elect between a jury sentencing or a court
sentencing was impermissibly burdened by an Executive
Agreement between Governor William Donald Schaefer
of Maryland and Governor John R. McKernan, Jr., of
Maine. In that document, the governors agreed that Oken
would be returned to the State of Maine:

"in the event that Steven Howard Oken is ac-
quitted in the Courts of the State of Maryland
or the prosecution in the State of Maryland is
concluded or terminated for any reason but
not limited to, A, the defendant is found to be
not competent to stand trial, or B, the defen-
dant is found not criminally responsible, or
C, the defendant is found guilty and receives
a sentence of life or a term of incarceration
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[*678] [***78] of less than life, or
D, any conviction of Steven Howard Oken
is pardoned by the executive authority of
Maryland, or E, any sentence imposed on
Steven Howard Oken is commuted to a term
of years of less than life without parole."

According to Oken, the existence of such an agree-
ment, of which the trial judge was aware, had the ef-
fect of discouraging him from exercising his right to
a court sentencing pursuant to Md.Code (1957, 1987
Repl.Vol.), Art. 27, § 413(b)(3) and Maryland Rule 4--
343(c). Specifically, Oken argues that, "because the trial
judge knew that a sentence of less than life without pa-
role would result in [Oken's return] to Maine, it is pos-
sible that the [trial] judge, desiring that [Oken] remain
in Maryland's prison system, would impose a sentence
which, under the agreement, would require [Oken] to re-
main in Maryland ---- i.e. death or life imprisonment with-
out parole. Given such circumstances, Oken submits that
his election of a jury sentencing was truly involuntary.
We disagree.

Oken's contention is based on nothing more than sheer
speculation about what the trial courtmight have done.
He has provided this Court with no support in the record
demonstrating that[***79] the Executive Agreement had
any effect whatsoever on his election of jury sentencing,
and, in fact, he asks us to presume that the trial judge
would have deviated from proper sentencing procedure.
In the instant case, the Executive Agreement or the fact of
its existence was not admissible in evidence at sentencing.
Indeed, during the pre--trial hearing of motions, the trial
judge informed Oken that "the Executive Agreement, at
least from the State's perspective, is not going to get before
the jury." Accordingly, we hold that Oken's contention is
meritless.

X.

Finally, although Oken does not brief or argue the is-
sue, we are required by Md.Code (1957, 1992 Repl.Vol.),
Art. 27, § 414(e)(4) to determine:
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[*679]

[**283] "Whether the sentence of death
is excessive or disproportionate to the penalty
imposed in similar cases, considering both
the crime and the defendant." n9

In making this determination, we consider most signif-
icant certain facts concerning Oken and the murder of
Dawn Garvin.

n9 By Ch. 331 of the Acts of 1992, this determi-
nation will no longer be required in appeals heard
after October 1, 1992.

[***80]

At the time of Dawn Garvin's murder, Stephen
Howard Oken was 25 years old. Prior to his conviction
for the murder of Dawn Garvin, Oken had also been con-
victed of the murder of Lori Ward in Maine. n10 During
the sentencing proceeding, a psychiatrist retained by Oken
as an expert testified on cross--examination that Oken had
volunteered to him the following account of how he killed
Dawn Garvin:

"I was told by Mr. Oken that he ap-
proached the victim outside the apartment,
asked if he could use the phone, made his
way into her apartment, looked about, shut
the door, took out a gun and asked that she
get undressed. He asked her to begin mastur-
bating. He masturbated. At the same time he
then asked her to get up and perform oral sex
on him. He then pushed her back. He got
on top of her, he tried to have intercourse, he
did this in different positions, including anal
sex. He got up at some point, went into the
kitchen, brought back a bottle, Durkee's hot
sauce bottle, which he said he inserted into
her vagina. He made her take the bottle in
and out. He was masturbating at the same
time. He became angry because he couldn't
reach climax and then he killed her."

The victim died [***81] as a result of two gunshot
wounds to the head. The jury found as an aggravating
factor that Oken committed the murder while committing
or attempting to commit a first degree sexual offense. With
respect to the statutory mitigating circumstances, the jury
was not able to
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[*680] unanimously agree that any existed. Nevertheless,
one or more of the jurors, but fewer than all 12, did find
the following mitigating circumstances to exist:

"1) Fact of an existing life sentence

2) sexual sadism

3) substance abuse"

n10 Oken has also been convicted of the murder
of Patricia Hirt, but that conviction did not occur
until after the trial for his murder of Dawn Garvin.

Our review of similar cases reveals that death sen-
tences have been imposed in a number of cases where
the aggravating circumstance of the murder was that the
defendant committed it while committing or attempting
to commit a sexual offense in the first degree upon the
victim. See,e.g., Bowers v. State, 306 Md. 120, 507 A.2d
1072 (1986);[***82] Trimble v. State, 300 Md. 387, 478
A.2d 1143 (1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1230, 105 S.Ct.
1231, 84 L.Ed.2d 368 (1985); Stebbing v. State, 299 Md.
331, 473 A.2d 903, cert. denied, 469 U.S. 900, 105 S.Ct.
276, 83 L.Ed.2d 212 (1984).Considering Oken and the
heinous nature of his crime, we conclude that the death
sentence was neither excessive nor disproportionate. We

are also satisfied that his death sentence was not imposed
under the influence of passion, prejudice or any arbitrary
factors. Md.Code, (1957, 1992 Repl.Vol.), Art. 27, §
414(e)(1).

CONVICTION AND SENTENCE FOR
BURGLARY REVERSED; ALL OTHER
JUDGMENTS AFFIRMED.

CONCURBY:

McAULIFFE (In Part); BELL (In Part)

DISSENTBY:

McAULIFFE (In Part); BELL (In Part)

DISSENT:

McAULIFFE, Judge, concurring in part and dissent-
ing in part.

I concur with the Court's judgment affirming Oken's
convictions for first degree murder, first degree sexual of-
fense, and the use of a handgun in the commission of a
crime of violence. I dissent, however, from the reversal
[***83] of Oken's conviction for burglary. The Court
holds that there
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[*681] was insufficient evidence to support the burglary
conviction, finding that the record in this case is "com-
pletely devoid of any evidence"[**284] showing a con-
structive breaking of Dawn Garvin's apartment. I disagree.

The Court correctly states that in reviewing a jury's
verdict for sufficiency of evidence, our task is to decide
"whether after considering the evidence in the light most
favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could
have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a
reasonable doubt."Wiggins v. State, 324 Md. 551, 567,
597 A.2d 1359 (1991), cert. denied, U.S. , 112 S.Ct.
1765, 118 L.Ed.2d 427 (1992).I find that this standard
is met, indeed surpassed, by the State's evidence show-
ing that Oken effected a constructive breaking of Dawn
Garvin's home on the night he murdered her.

A constructive breaking can occur when an entry is
gained by artifice, fraud, conspiracy, or threats.Brooks
v. State, 277 Md. 155, 159--60, 353 A.2d 217 (1976);
[***84] see also Perkins on Criminal Law, 194--95 (2d

ed. 1969). As the Court acknowledges, the "constructive
breaking" element of Oken's burglary conviction, as with
any element of an offense, may stand on circumstantial ev-
idence alone.Wilson v. State, 319 Md. 530, 536, 573 A.2d
831 (1990); Veney v. State, 251 Md. 182, 201, 246 A.2d
568 (1968), cert. denied, 394 U.S. 948, 89 S.Ct. 1284, 22
L.Ed.2d 482 (1969).Indeed, in a case such as this where
the defendant is accused not only of committing burglary
but also of murdering his victim, circumstantial evidence
of a constructive breaking may be all that exists.

The State produced evidence of four incidents close
in time and location to the murder in this case. The first
three incidents involved attempts by Oken to gain entry
to residences by claiming that he needed to use the tele-
phone, and the fourth involved Oken's attempt to stop a
woman driving alone by posing as a police officer.

First, Mark Glidden testified for the State that at 9:30
p.m. on 1 November 1987, the same evening Garvin
[***85] was



Page 50
327 Md. 628, *682; 612 A.2d 258, **284;

1992 Md. LEXIS 148, ***85; 17 A.L.R.5th 893

[*682] murdered, a man knocked on his apartment door
and, as Glidden began to open the door, immediately
started to come in. The man, later identified by Glidden
as Oken, said that he had had a fight with his wife, and
she had locked him out. Oken used the telephone and
walked out, heading toward Garvin's apartment building
across the street. At trial, Oken's wife testified that she
was not in town on the date of this incident.

Second, Bonnie Winkleman testified that on the
evening of 27 October 1987 a man knocked on the door
of her apartment, located about 1000 feet from Garvin's
apartment, claiming he needed to use the telephone.
Winkleman told the man she would let him in as soon as
she finished changing her clothes. The man, later identi-
fied as Oken, began cursing and screaming and continued
to knock on her door. Winkleman became frightened and
telephoned a friend, Robert Strange, who came to her
apartment. Strange told Oken that he would not be al-
lowed into Winkleman's apartment; Oken then left.

Third, Gregory Gunnell testified that at 2:30 a.m. on

20 October 1987, a man knocked on the door of his apart-
ment, located approximately one--half mile from Garvin's
apartment,[***86] and told him that he was a doctor who
needed to use the telephone. The man, later identified by
Gunnell as Oken, also said he lived in the same building,
which Gunnell doubted since he knew all his neighbors.
Gunnell did, however, allow Oken to use the telephone
and testified that the conversation had something to do
with a prescription.

Fourth, Burnita Wilder testified that while driving at
approximately 10:00 p.m. on an evening in late October, a
man in another vehicle pulled up beside her car and tried
to get her to pull over by flashing his lights, showing a po-
lice patch, and yelling. When Wilder pulled over in front
of a shopping center, the man, later identified by Wilder
as Oken, said, "Don't you know when a policeman tells
you to pull over, you pull over?" Oken then told Wilder to
drive over to a part of the shopping center parking lot that
was dark. Wilder instead drove to a well--lighted area and
asked
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[*683] Oken to show a police badge. When he showed
her the cloth police patch, she pointed out that it was not
a badge, to which he responded, "Oh, shit, I forgot my
[**285] badge." Wilder quickly left her car and went into
a convenience store. Oken drove away.

This evidence[***87] demonstrated to the jury that
on at least four recent occasions Oken lied and sought
access to individuals by identifying himself as a police
officer or a doctor, or by claiming to have just fought with
his wife when she was in fact out of town. Furthermore,
the State produced a shopping list written in Oken's own
hand listing gauze pads, chloroform, gag, adhesive tape
and other items suggesting that Oken intended to surprise
and forcibly subdue his intended victim. Moreover, the
jury could consider Oken's actual conduct toward Dawn
Garvin, and infer from that his criminal intent as he ap-
proached her apartment. The clear picture presented is of
Oken, bent on criminal assault, with very recent practice
and experience in, and proclivity toward, gaining access
by trick or fraud. Oken neither contests these facts nor

offers alternative explanations of his prior ruses.

No evidence suggested that Oken somehow knew
Garvin and legitimately gained access to her home. While
such an explanation could be imagined, our task is not to
explore whether there is any remote possibility that the
jury was wrong.

The evidence in this case, when considered in the
light most favorable to the prosecution,[***88] sup-
ported the finding of the jury beyond a reasonable doubt
that during the prior incidents Oken searched for possible
victims, and used a similar kind of ruse to gain entry to
Dawn Garvin's apartment, thus effecting a constructive
breaking into her home. I would therefore affirm Oken's
burglary conviction.

ROBERT M. BELL, Judge, concurring and dissent-
ing.

I concur with the Court that petitioner Stephen
Howard Oken's convictions for first degree murder, first
degree
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[*684] sexual offense and use of a handgun in the com-
mission of a crime of violence should be affirmed. I also
agree with its reversal, for insufficient evidence, of his
burglary conviction. For the reasons that follow, how-
ever, I dissent from the Court's judgment as it relates to
the sentencing proceeding.

Maryland Code (1957, 1987 Repl.Vol.) Art. 27, §
413(k)(2), the statute in effect when the murder of which
the petitioner was convicted and for which he was sen-
tenced to death, provided:

If the jury, within a reasonable time, is not
able to agree as to whether a sentence of death
shall be imposed, the court may not impose
a sentence of death.

The petitioner requested that the jury be instructed as
follows: [***89]

I advise you that if for any reason you are
unable within a reasonable period of time to
reach a unanimous judgment as to the bal-
ancing required by Section ___ of the form,
I will sentence Stephen H. Oken to life im-
prisonment. n1

n1 Petitioner's jury instruction was apparently
based on the 1982 version of Maryland Code (1957)
Art. 27, § 413(k)(2), which provided:

If the jury, within a reasonable time,
is not able to agree as to sentence, the
court shall dismiss the jury and impose
a sentence of imprisonment for life.

The difference between the 1982 version and the
1987 version is undoubtedly due to the passage of
Chapter 237, Laws 1987, effective July 1, 1987,
which added a sentencing option, life imprison-
ment without the possibility of parole, to be consid-
ered with death and life with possibility of parole,
SeeMd.Code (1957, 1987 Repl.Vol.) Art. 27, §
413(e)(4). The language change makes clear that
the only restriction imposed on the judge when a
sentencing jury cannot agree as to death, is that he
or she not sentence the defendant to death.

[***90]

The court refused to do so. n2 Instead, the court
walked the jury through the sentencing form, pointing
out the
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[*685] issues which the jury was required to resolve
unanimously, as well as those which it was not, as a pre-
requisite to proceeding from one section of the form to the
next. Toward the end of the instructions, for example, the

court instructed the jury that its determination of whether
the aggravating circumstance alleged by the State to exist
outweighed the mitigating circumstances the jury might
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[*686] find must be unanimous; "[u]ntil all 12 of you
agree on whether the answer is 'Yes' or 'No', do not go
onto Section V." It then advised the jury:

Before arriving at your verdict, you are
to consider all of the evidence of the case.
You are to consider all of the evidence that
is favorable to the defendant as well as all
of the evidence which is unfavorable to him.
Moreover, your verdict, whatever it may be,
must be the unanimous verdict of all 12 mem-
bers of the jury.

Now, as I said, your verdict has to be
unanimous, that is, all of you must agree
upon the verdict returned by your foreman.
If any one of you disagrees with the findings
of your fellow jurors, [***91] it is your duty
to maintain your position until convinced that
you are incorrect. You should not agree to a
verdict merely because the majority of your
fellow jurors vote in a certain way or merely
to assume unanimity. By this, I do not mean
that you should not consider and weigh the
views and opinions of your fellow jurors with
regard to the evidence you heard in making
up your mind, arriving at your own judgment.
You should listen to and consider the views
and opinions of your fellow jurors, but after
you have done this and arrived at a verdict
in your own mind, you should not recede
from or abandon your independent judgment
simply for the purpose of reaching a compro-
mised verdict. (Emphasis added) n[3]

n2 The petitioner asserts that the issue is pre-
served for appellate review. Although it does not
appear that it was recorded, he suggests, by refer-
ence to a chambers' conference, that the issue was
raised and discussed there. His objection was pre-
served, he says, by virtue of the court's statement
that all issues raised at the chambers' conference
were preserved. The State does not dispute that the
issue is preserved. It maintains, rather, that the pro-
posed instruction properly was rejected because it
"in fact did not conform to § 413(k)(2), and indeed
was affirmatively misleading." It also believes, for
the reasons stated by the majority,see infra, that
the issue has previously been resolved against the
petitioner.

The non--conformity to § 413(k)(2) of the pro-
posed instruction is reflected, according to the
State, in the fact that it is premised upon the law
that existed prior to the Legislature's addition of life

imprisonment without possibility of parole as an
additional sentencing option for the jury. Because,
in this case, the jury was instructed as to three,
rather than two, sentencing options, had it been un-
able unanimously to agree that death should not be
imposed, deliberations to choose between simple
life and life without parole would still have been
required. It is the reference to only a sentence of
imprisonment for life, presumably, life imprison-
ment with possibility of parole, which the State
believes renders the instruction not only incorrect,
but, misleading. It citesHenry v. State, 324 Md.
204, 248--49, 252, 596 A.2d 1024, 1046 (1991)and
Hunt v. State, 321 Md. 387, 405, 583 A.2d 218, 227
(1990), cert. denied, sub nom., Hunt v. Maryland,

U.S. , 112 S.Ct. 117, 116 L.Ed.2d 86 (1991)as
standing for that proposition.

I continue to be of the view that a trial judge's
role in propounding jury instructions encompasses
more than reviewing the proposed instructions for
error or to determine whether they are misleading.
See Clark v. State, 80 Md.App. 405, 411--15, 564
A.2d 90, 94 (1989). See also Glover v. State, 88
Md.App. 393, 398, 594 A.2d 1224, 1227 (1991).
When proposed instructions address issues prop-
erly to be decided by the jury, even though they
are not totally accurate, the court nevertheless is
required to instruct the jury on those issues even
if it may have to make changes to ensure that the
instructions it does give are fully reflective of the
law. Criminal trials, and especially capital sentenc-
ing proceedings, are not games. Thus, even though
the proposed instruction in this case was technically
erroneous ---- although it addressed only the court's
lack of power to impose a death sentence when the
jury cannot agree unanimously that it is the proper
sentence and did not fully take account of all of
the sentencing options available to the jury ---- I fail
to see how it was misleading. It certainly was not
incapable of correction so as to provide the jury
with both a completeand accurate picture of the
situation. In my view, technical inaccuracy of the
proposed instruction did not relieve the court of
its obligation accurately to instruct the jury on so
critical a point.

[***92]

n3 The second paragraph of the questioned por-
tions of the court's instruction is a modifiedAllen
charge,see Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492, 17
S.Ct. 154, 41 L.Ed. 528 (1896), Burnette v. State,
280 Md. 88, 371 A.2d 663 (1977),the purpose of
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which is to break any potential deadlock in the ju-
rors' deliberations.

The petitioner argues that, by so instructing the jury,
the trial court "indicated that a unanimous verdict was the

sole method of terminating the deliberations" and, there-
fore, that the court's refusal to propound his proposed
instruction was reversible[**287] error. This is so, he
says, because of the "recent trend" of this Court to require
that the jury be instructed as to all possible outcomes. He
cites,e.g., Hook
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[*687] v. State, 315 Md. 25, 553 A.2d 233 (1989); State v.
Hutchinson, 287 Md. 198, 411 A.2d 1035 (1980).Relying
on Burnette v. State, 280 Md. 88, 371 A.2d 663 (1977),
[***93] he maintains that "telling a jury (as in the instant
case) that unanimity is the only way to end the delib-
erations is very likely to have a coercive impact." The
petitioner also relies upon cases from other jurisdictions.
See, e.g., Whalen v. State, 492 A.2d 552 (Del.1985); State
v. Loyd, 459 So.2d 498 (La.1984); State v. Williams, 392
So.2d 619 (La.1980); State v. Bey, 112 N.J. 123, 548 A.2d
887 (1988); State v. Ramseur, 106 N.J. 123, 524 A.2d 188
(1987).

The majority counters, in Part II of its opinion, by
pointing out that, inCalhoun v. State, 297 Md. 563, 593--
95, 468 A.2d 45, 58--60 (1983), cert. denied, 466 U.S. 993,
104 S.Ct. 2374, 80 L.Ed.2d 846 (1984),"this Court has
already rejected the notion that a trial judge must instruct
the jurors in a capital sentencing proceeding prior to its
deliberation that if they cannot agree on sentencing within
a reasonable time a life sentence would be[***94] im-
posed." [Op. at 642--43.] In that case, we interpreted the

1982 version of § 413(k)(2) as an instruction to the trial
court, to whom, we held, was entrusted, as in traditional
trials, the determination when deliberations have contin-
ued for a reasonable time and, hence, whether a jury is
truly hung, i.e., in the context of a sentencing proceed-
ing, unable to arrive at a decision as to the appropriate
sentence.Calhounwas most recently followed inBooth
v. State, 327 Md. 142, 608 A.2d 162 (1992).

Boothinvolved a similar, though not identical, issue.
There, the petitioner's argument concerning the inappro-
priateness of refusing to instruct the jury consistent with
former § 413(k)(2) was coupled with his misgivings con-
cerning the coercive impact of anAllentype charge, given
in supplemental instructions, to break an announced jury
deadlock on a threshold determination, which, by rule
and statute, was required to be made unanimously. The
majority reiterated the conclusion previously reached in
Calhounand held that whether the jury was hung on the
threshold issue, in that case, principalship, and whether
mistrial
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[*688] [***95] should have been declared, and a life
sentence imposed, were issues for the trial court alone to
decide. Id. at 157, 608 A.2d at 169.The majority also
held that the modifiedAllencharge that the trial court gave
over the petitioner's objection was not coercive and was
not rendered so simply because the proceeding involved
a potential capital sentencing.Id. at 159, 608 A.2d at 170.

I dissented in that case. For essentially the same rea-
sons, I dissent in this case as well.

I acknowledge thatCalhounstands for the proposition
that when to declare a mistrial is a matter addressed to
the trial court and, further, the jury need not be told of the
effect of its failure to agree. Nevertheless, as I pointed
out inBooth,

[t]his does not, and can not mean, however,
that § 413(k)(2) has no role to play in con-
nection with the various determinations that
must be made during the sentencing proceed-
ing. Simply because § 413(k)(2) is addressed
to the trial court, and not the jury, and the jury,
therefore, is never instructed as to its content
or operation, does not mean that the sentenc-

ing [***96] proceeding may be treated as
if unanimity were a prerequisite of a valid
outcome; that up to, and until the trial court
finally determines that the jury is hung, the
jury not only need not be told of the effect of
a failure to agree but actually may be misled
into believing that itmustagree one way or
the other.

The jury's inability to agree unanimously,
one way or the other, as to sentencing in
a capital case tried in this State, former §
413(k)(2) makes clear, necessarily results in
imposition of a life sentence. To treat the
sentencing procedure, including its compo-
nent parts, as if unanimity were an abso-
lute prerequisite, notwithstanding former §
413(k)(2), and to so instruct the jury is ac-
tively to mislead it . . . . [W]hile unanimity
is required for thejury to render a verdict,
[**288] the law recognizes and thus contem-
plates thatthe jurymay not render a verdict.
Thus, although by its terms, [a section] of the
sentencing form
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[*689] seeks unanimity, in point of fact, una-
nimity is not absolutely required. That sec-
tion is only a component part of the verdict;
therefore, to the extent that a reasonable time
for deliberations has passed, . . . the lack of
unanimity[***97] must result in the impo-
sition of a life sentence. Giving a modified
Allencharge, the only purpose of which is to
break a deadlock, is a clear statement to the
jury that unanimitymustbe achieved. That

is clearly not the case.

327 Md. at 210--211, 608 A.2d at 195--96.

I continue to adhere to those views. In this case, the
modified Allen charge was given immediately after the
reiteration that a verdict must be unanimous, thus con-
veying the very clear message to the jury that it must
agree unanimously. Here, just as inBooth, that not only
was totally inaccurate, it was, and is, actually misleading.


